
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

4:00 pm, Wednesday, December 20, 2023 
School Board Office 

 
A G E N D A 

 

PRESENTATION:  2023 Germany Exchange – M. Burnikell 

QUESTION PERIOD 

 

CHAIRPERSON’S REMARKS 

 

1. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
MOTION: “THAT the Regular meeting agenda of December 20, 2023, be adopted as circulated.” 

 
 
2. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

MOTION: “THAT the Regular meeting minutes of November 15, 2023, be adopted as circulated.” 

 
 

3. REPORT OF CLOSED MEETINGS 
3.a) November 15, 2023 – The Board met in-camera to discuss items which included 

personnel and property . 
 
 

4. INCOMING CORRESPONDENCE 
4.a) BCSTA to Minister Singh – Re Support for Youth Mental Health 
4.b) BCSTA to Minsters Conroy and Singh – Re Pay Equity Supplement 
4.c) MLA Sturko to BCSTA – Re Ensuring Inclusivity for all B.C. Students 
4.d) Deputy Minister Zacharuk to BCSTA – Re Memorandum of Understanding 

 
MOTION: “THAT the correspondence listed in item 4.a) to 4. ) be received.” 

  
5. OUTGOING CORRESPONDENCE 

5.a) N/A 
 
 

6. SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS’ REPORT 
6.a) Tla’amin Nation – First Nations Schools of Choice Policy 
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6.b) Suspension, Exclusion, and Seclusion Report – September 5, 2022, to November 30, 
2023 

 
MOTION: “THAT the Superintendent of Schools’ Report be received as presented.” 

 
7. SECRETARY-TREASURER’S REPORT 

7.a) Director of Information Technology Position (oral) 
7.b) Month End Financial Report as at November 30, 2023 

  

   MOTION: “THAT the Secretary Treasurer’s report be received as presented.” 

 

8. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

8.a) Committee of the Whole Report for December 13, 2023 

Additional Reference Documents: 

8.a.i) Statement of Financial Information 

8.a.ii) Policy 8 – Borad Committees 

8.a.iii) Policy 9 – Board Representatives 

Recommended motions arising from the Committee of the Whole Meeting: 

MOTION: “THAT Sloan Consultants be appointed to assist the Board in its evaluation of 

the Superintendent and to facilitate the Board in its Self-Evaluation process” 

MOTION: “THAT the Statement of Financial Information Report be received” 

MOTION: “THAT the proposed amendments to Policy 8 - Board Committees and Policy 9 

– Board Representatives be adopted as presented” 

  

9. OTHER BUSINESS 

9.a) Annual Trustee Appointments 

9.b) BCSTA Winter Academy – Trustees (oral)  

9.c) Financial Disclosure Reminder 

 

QUESTION PERIOD 

 

MEDIA QUESTION PERIOD 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

  
  
ADJOURNMENT 
SH/attachments 



BROOKS-
GERMANY
EXCHANGE
2023
Powell River to Tuttlingen & back...

BROOKS-IMMANUEL KANT GYMNASIUM 



OUR STORY

HOW IT STARTED

In 2009, IKG contacted Canadian and American schools

looking for an exchange partner. Our school responded.

One teacher from IKG came to visit Brooks and the rest,

as they say, is history...



From October 2022 to June 2023, students went through an

application process and successful applicants fund raised to

pay for the trip.

All funds raised covered costs of our flight to Germany,

Brooks activities while in Germany and all Powell River-based

activities..

GETTING THERE
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FreiburgTuttlingen BraubachMainzEuropa Park

GERMANY

and so much more...
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EXPANDING
OUR
WORLDVIEW



POWELL RIVER
OCTOBER 11-28, 2023



to this exchange...

Brooks Students could
participate in the Canadian
portion only

Four families hosted two German
students, each

New 
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HIGHLIGHTING THE BEST 

During their time here, we took them to

Tofino and Ucluelet, Kayaking from Lund,

Curling, bowling, skating and disc golfing. We

also went on a Medicine Walk, a Townsite

Tour and out to the Tla'Amin Fish Hatchery

and a tour around the Nation with a stop at

the Governance House. We also made sure

to celebrate Thanksgiving and Halloween -

two traditions uniquely North American!

Many thanks to all who made these

experiences possible!







NEXT: 2025
STUDENTS IN GRADES 8 & 9 ARE ALREADY ASKING ABOUT THE

NEXT EXCHANGE!



@BrooksIKG

INSTAGRAM



THANK YOU!
without board approval, this opportunity and these amazing experiences

would not be possible



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

4:00 pm, Wednesday, November 15, 2023 
School Board Office 

 
MINUTES 

 

Present: Jaclyn Miller, Kirsten Van’t Schip, Rob Hill, Dale Lawson, Maureen Mason 

Also in attendance: Jay Yule (Superintendent), Steve Hopkins (Secretary-Treasurer) 

 

The meeting was called to order at 4:08 p.m. by Secretary-Treasurer Hopkins.  

 

ELECTIONS:   

Chairperson:  

J. Miller accepted a nomination by D. Lawson.  

Seeing no further nominations, J. Miller was acclaimed to the role of Chairperson.  

 

Chairperson Miller assumed the role of chair and continued with the remaining board elections.  

 

Vice Chairperson:  

K. Van’t Schip accepted a nomination by M. Mason.  

Seeing no further nominations, K. Van’t Schip was acclaimed as Vice-Chairperson.  

 

BCSTA Provincial Council Representative: 

Rob Hill accepted a nomination by K. Van’t Schip. D. Lawson declined a nomination by J. Miller.  

Seeing no further nominations, R. Hill was acclaimed as BCSTA Provincial Council Representative.  

 

BCPSEA Representative: 

J. Miller was nominated by R. Hill.  

Seeing no further nominations, J. Miller was acclaimed as BCPSEA Representative.  

 

 

PRESENTATION:   Elementary ʔayʔajuθəm – K. Peters and C. Piccinin 

K. Peter and C. Piccinin, along with students from James Thomson Elementary, provided insights into the 

ʔayʔajuθəm immersion program and shared details about its history. The group presented a translated 

poem to the board, which students read aloud in ʔayʔajuθəm. 
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Expressions of gratitude were extended to the Indigenous Education team. K. Peters and C. Piccinin 

celebrated the positive impact of the program for students, as the immersive experience led to a 

transformation in their enthusiasm for learning. The incorporation of singing and drumming revealed 

diverse personalities and strengths among the students. The growth of the team was emphasized, with 

a collective effort dedicated to sharing language and culture. 

 

QUESTION PERIOD 

There were no questions.  

 

CHAIRPERSON’S REMARKS 

J. Miller presented prepared remarks and expressed gratitude to the trustees for their dedicated service 

on the board. She highlighted the diverse strengths of the trustees and acknowledged how their 

combined abilities have effectively bolstered the district throughout their current term.   

 

1. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 

MOVED:  D. Lawson 

SECONDED:  R. Hill 

THAT the Regular meeting agenda of November 15, 2023, be adopted as circulated. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 
 
2. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

 

MOVED:  M. Mason 

SECONDED:  K. Van’t Schip 

THAT the Regular meeting minutes of October 25, 2023, be adopted as circulated. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 
 

3. REPORT OF CLOSED MEETINGS 
3.a) October 25, 2023 – The Board met in-camera to discuss items which include personnel 

and property. 
 

4. INCOMING CORRESPONDENCE 
4.a) BCSTA to Premier Eby Re: Recent Meeting to Discuss Disruptions and Protests in School 

Districts 

Trustees discussed the correspondence noting that the district has not seen the same 
level of disruptions as some other districts. 
 

4.b) BCSTA to Minister Singh Re: Request for the Minister of Education and Child Care's 
Support for Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion 



 

 

 

 
MOVED:  R. Hill 

SECONDED:  M. Mason 

THAT the correspondence listed in item 4.a) to 4.b) be received. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 

5. OUTGOING CORRESPONDENCE 
5.a)  N/A 

 
 

6. SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS’ REPORT 
6.a) Administrative Procedure 193 – Breastfeeding in Schools 

Subsequent to that session, further modifications were made for enhanced clarity, 
incorporating feedback received, notably referencing the district's visitors 
administrative procedure. Trustees advocated for the use of gender-neutral language in 
discussions related to breastfeeding. J. Yule assured that these additional changes 
would be implemented before the procedure is officially enacted.  

6.b) Suspension, Exclusion, and Seclusion Report – September 5, 2022, to October 31, 2023 
 

MOVED:  D. Lawson 

SECONDED:  K. Van’t Schip 

THAT the Superintendent of Schools’ Report be received as presented. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 
 
7. SECRETARY-TREASURER’S REPORT 

7.a) Month End Financial Report as at October 31, 2023 

S. Hopkins reviewed the financial report, highlighting its alignment with the previous 

year's figures. He indicated that the amended operating grant would be disclosed by the 

ministry in mid-December, and subsequent updates would be discussed with the board 

as part of the amended budget process. Trustees sought additional details on the 

Transportation and Housing expenditure, which showed a significant depletion 

compared to other budget categories. S. Hopkins explained that the spending was 

attributed to an unforeseen issue with a school bus, which had not been anticipated 

during the budget development phase. 

MOVED:  R. Hill 

SECONDED:  K. Van’t Schip 

THAT the Secretary Treasurer’s report be received as presented. 

 STATUS:  CARRIED 

 



 

 

 

8. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

8.a) Committee of the Whole Report for November 8, 2023 

Additional Reference Documents: 

8.a.i) Indigenous Education Operational Plan 

8.a.ii) Early Learning, Childcare & Food Security 

8.a.iii) Communications 

8.a.iv) Business Services 

Trustees celebrated key areas of interest in the operational plan presentations during the 

November Committee of the Whole. Highlights included: 

• Recognition of Indigenous learning initiatives, such as indigenizing math and increasing 

elders' presence in schools. Transparency in site meetings and the immersion program 

was acknowledged, along with reported improvements in community communications. 

Gratitude was expressed to the operations team. 

• Emphasis on the centrality of communications in the district, with a primary goal to 

promote transparency and engagement. The focus is on building communities of 

collaboration. 

• Focus on food programs and ensuring access to healthy food for enhanced learning. 

Anticipation for the growth of the "Kids in the Kitchen" program was expressed. 

• Excitement about the food program's potential to bring people together and promote 

mental health through healthy nutrition. 

• Discussion on indigenizing mathematics, incorporating indigenous story work, and 

exploring pedagogies to transform the classroom experience. Anticipation for positive 

impacts on all students and recognition of the crucial work of the Joint Education and 

Development Initiative (JEDI) committee for public education. 

MOVED:  R. Hill 

SECONDED:  K. Van’t Schip 

THAT the indigenous Education, Early Learning, Childcare & Food Security, Communications 

and Business Services Operational Plans be received as was presented. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 

 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 

9.a) Strategic Plan Final Design Discussion  

K. Payne provided feedback following the Committee of the Whole (COTW) meeting and 

circulated a new version of the print document, noting the need for additional photo 

work. Comments received included:  

• Suggestion to inject student art, poetry, or quotes. Inquiry about whether there 

was a request for student art or poetry specifically created for the plan, with 

potential classroom exercises which would potentially delay the release of the 

printed document. 

 



 

 

 

• Decision to use the existing logo, with a new visual identity to be shared after 

logo development. Confirmation sought on whether the board was aligned on 

this. 

 

• Support for the idea of incorporating art and student work in the plan but 

differentiation from the goal of student engagement. Proposal to include 

existing art and later initiate a student engagement project after publication. 

 

• Acknowledgment of the opportunity to engage students and families but 

expressed concern about delaying the publication for a year. Suggestion to 

consider the idea for the next plan but expedite the current one. 

 

• Suggestion to include pronunciations of Ayajuthem text. Viewed as a good 

learning opportunity. 

 

• Proposal to involve our own students in photos, and suggestion to utilize the 

media team to capture local images and build a repository. Consideration given 

to moving away from stock images. 

 

• Confirmation of plans to swap in art, get printed before the break for delivery in 

January, and develop a PDF for online sharing. Consideration of the new visual 

identity after the printing. 

 

• Addressing feedback regarding "Our Commitment" page layout with a larger 

question about whether to remove it. Support for the new layout and 

recommendation to leave it in. 

QUESTION PERIOD 

• Positive feedback on the phonetic pronunciation suggestion, seen as a positive step. A request 

for the board to consider expanding and clarifying references to "group" and "team" in 

operational plans, explicitly defining who is included in these terms. 

• Echoing the sentiment of the previous comment, expressing a disconnect between the 

operational plan and staff in the district. Emphasizing the need for engagement with staff, as 

many are unaware of the operational plan.  

• K. Payne summarized planned engagement strategies with staff and considered the need to 

explore different partnerships and methods of information sharing. 

• A question was posed regarding the state of the district’s contingency fund/surplus, with a 

request for information via email. S. Hopkins agreed to share that information.  

• Announcement that elementary report cards being moved back by a week due to challenges, 

including those related to student competencies. 

 



 

 

 

MEDIA QUESTION PERIOD 

No media present at the meeting.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

MOVED:  D. Lawson 

THAT the Regular Board Meeting be adjourned at 5:00 p.m. 

STATUS:  CARRIED. 

 

 

 

 

  

J. Miller S. Hopkins  
Chairperson     Secretary-Treasurer                   
 
 
SH/attachments 



November 21, 2023

The Honourable Rachna Singh
Minister of Education and Child Care
PO Box 9045, Stn Prov Govt
Victoria, B.C. V8W 9E2 
ecc.minister@gov.bc.ca

Dear Minister Singh,

Subject: Support for Youth Mental Health

During the British Columbia School Trustees Association’s October 2023 Provincial Council 
meeting, our membership, which represents all 60 boards of education in B.C., passed the 
following resolution:

“That BCSTA request that Government supports the creation of a working group 
consisting of BCSTA, applicable Ministries, Rights Holders, and Partner Groups to 
prepare a recommendation to the Ministry of Finance that will provide incentives for 
Child and Youth Mental Health Clinicians, as well as Indigenous Practitioners, to locate 
in rural and remote Communities to meet the needs of Children and Youth in said 
communities. The work is desired to be completed prior to the tabling of the Provincial 
Budget in 2024.”

Our membership has raised specific concerns regarding access to mental health support for 
young people in B.C., specifically regarding the availability of services in rural and remote areas.
The enclosed rationale contains an example that indicates Princeton has not had a dedicated 
youth mental health clinician for seven years. 

Dedicated clinicians, Indigenous practitioners and related services are required to meet the 
growing needs of students. While school staff have done their best to rise to the occasion, we 
must consciously address these needs to serve vulnerable students better. 

The enclosed rationale also outlines several examples of how to incentivize youth mental health
professionals to take positions in rural and remote areas of our province. These strategies 
include loan forgiveness, labour market adjustment to wages, wage top-ups, subsidized 
housing, income tax credits and, in the absence of filling permanent positions, increased funding
for travel allocations to bring in professionals at a more consistent rate than is currently 
experienced. 



Our membership has requested that a working group be created to facilitate these requests 
prior to Budget 2024, as the budget would need to include support related to  actions tied to this 
work. We are committed to supporting this work at your earliest convenience, and as this 
timeline is short, perhaps pre-existing structures could be leveraged to align our combined 
efforts. Given the limited window of opportunity, we are also receptive to your recommendations
on addressing this concern raised by boards of education from across the province. We thank 
you for considering this request and look forward to your response.  

Sincerely, 

Carolyn Broady
President
British Columbia School Trustees Association

Motion: P120239.1.2

Enclosure: Original motion rationale

CC: Christina Zacharuk, Deputy Minister, Ministry of Education and Child Care
BCSTA member boards of education
Suzanne Hoffman, CEO, BCSTA
BCSTA Board of Directors 
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9.1.2. Support for Youth Mental Health

Category: Education Finance

Motion #: 9.1.2 : P120239.1.2 Sponsor: Nicola-Similkameen

Meeting: PC Oct 2023 Action: not specified

Category: Outcome: not specified

Disposition: Carried  

Motion as Adopted:
BE IT RESOLVED:
That BCSTA request that Government supports the creation of a working group consisting of BCSTA, applicable 

Ministries, Rights Holders, and Partner Groups to prepare a recommendation to the Ministry of Finance that will provide 

incentives for Child and Youth Mental Health Clinicians, as well as Indigenous Practitioners, to locate in rural and remote 

Communities to meet the needs of Children and Youth in said communities. The work is desired to be completed prior to 

the tabling of the Provincial Budget in 2024.

Motion as Presented:
BE IT RESOLVED:
That BCSTA request that Government supports the creation of a working group consisting of BCSTA, applicable 

Ministries, Rights Holders, and Partner Groups to prepare a recommendation to the Ministry of Finance that will provide 

incentives for Child and Youth Mental Health Clinicians, as well as Indigenous Practitioners, to locate in rural and remote 

Communities to meet the needs of Children and Youth in said communities. The work is desired to be completed prior to 

the tabling of the Provincial Budget in 2024.

Rationale:
1. Rural and remote communities are continuing to be underserved by the provincial government with regards to Youth 

Mental Health when compared to larger urban centers. By way of example, the community of Princeton has been 

without a Youth Mental Health Clinician for 7 years.  This lack of Youth Mental Health Clinicians has put additional 

stresses on the public education system as school counsellors attempt to fill this gap. In many instances they are 

simply not equipped to handle these situations, which in turn puts our most vulnerable students at greater risk 

compared to the overall student population.

2. We believe incentives to increase interest in smaller communities could include for consideration, but are not limited 

to:

1. Student loan forgiveness in return for locating for a period of 3 years in a rural or remote community

2. A labour market adjustment to wages paid in rural or remote communities

3. Subsidized housing

4. Wage top-ups to NGOs / Not For Profits in rural and remote communities

5. An income tax credit to individuals working as Youth Mental Health Clinicians and Indigenous Practitioners in rural 

and remote communities

October 26, 2023 03:09pm
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6. Increased funding for travel allocations across Ministries and to Not For Profits to be able to serve rural and remote 

communities on a weekly basis where it is not possible to establish a permanent presence in the community.

This is an action motion and does not change or contradict any existing Foundational Statement or Policy 
Statement.

October 26, 2023 03:09pm
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December 7, 2023

The Honourable Katrine Conroy
Minister of Finance
PO Box 9048, Stn Prov Govt
Victoria, B.C. V8W 9E2 
fin.minister@gov.bc.ca

The Honourable Rachna Singh
Minister of Education and Child Care
PO Box 9045, Stn Prov Govt
Victoria, B.C. V8W 9E2 
ecc.minister@gov.bc.ca

Dear Minister Conroy and Minister Singh,

Subject: Pay Equity Supplement Advocacy 

During the British Columbia School Trustees Association’s October 2023 Provincial Council 
meeting, our membership, which represents all 60 boards of education in B.C., passed the 
following resolution:

“That BCSTA advocate to the Ministry of Education and Childcare and the Ministry of 
Finance to increase the Pay Equity Supplement to ensure that Districts that had 
addressed or partially addressed pay equity using their own operating dollars prior to the
instituting of the Pay Equity supplement are provided an increase to bring them up to the
current median Pay Equity Supplement per District based on FTE and that no District is 
negatively impacted.”

Our membership has indicated its collective concern regarding necessary increases to the Pay 
Equity Supplement. These concerns have continued to grow, and as we are currently in the 
government's planning phase for the upcoming budget, we submit this request for your 
consideration.

While boards of education were able to utilize grants to address equity many years ago, they 
must now rely on the supplement in combination with their operating funds. Some districts have 
been disproportionally affected, as detailed in the enclosed rationale, and we seek to restore 
fairness and parity that is not currently in place. As part of this request, we seek additional 
reimbursement for districts that have had to utilize their operating funds to fund these increases 
in advance of all districts being provided an increased supplement to cover these costs. 



Alleviating this pressure from districts will allow for additional flexibility in the use of operating 
funds, which will directly benefit students and their experience in classrooms across B.C. I thank
you for considering this request on behalf of our membership and look forward to your reply. 

Sincerely, 

Carolyn Broady
President
British Columbia School Trustees Association

Motion: P120239.2.2

Enclosure: Original motion rationale

CC: Christina Zacharuk, Deputy Minister, Ministry of Education and Child Care
BCSTA member boards of education
Suzanne Hoffman, CEO, BCSTA
BCSTA Board of Directors 
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9.2.2. Pay Equity Supplement Advocacy

Category: Teachers/Personnel and Employee Relations

Motion #: 9.2.2 : P120239.2.2 Sponsor: Nanaimo-Ladysmith

Meeting: PC Oct 2023 Action: not specified

Category: Outcome: not specified

Disposition: Carried

Motion as Adopted:
BE IT RESOLVED:
That BCSTA advocate to the Ministry of Education and Childcare and the Ministry of Finance to increase the Pay Equity 

Supplement to ensure that Districts that had addressed or partially addressed pay equity using their own operating 

dollars prior to the instituting of the Pay Equity supplement are provided an increase to bring them up to the current 

median Pay Equity Supplement per District based on FTE and that no District is negatively impacted.

Motion as Presented:
BE IT RESOLVED:
That BCSTA advocate to the Ministry of Education and Childcare and the Ministry of Finance to increase the Pay Equity 

Supplement to ensure that Districts that had addressed or partially addressed pay equity using their own operating 

dollars prior to the instituting of the Pay Equity supplement are provided an increase to bring them up to the current 

median Pay Equity Supplement per District based on FTE and that no District is negatively impacted.

Rationale:
The motion is emergent as our Board only received a response to our individual district advocacy on the issue on 

September 1, 2023, which came to our Board at the end of September and this is the first opportunity to bring the matter 

forward to BCSTA following the response.

Further, the Board understands that the provincial budget is currently in the planning stages and in order to influence the 

outcome advocacy must begin well before the next opportunity to bring the matter before Provincial Council or the next 

AGM.

What is the substantive rationale?

The Ministry of Education and Childcare provides Districts with a Pay Equity Supplement. While the historical 

understanding of the implementation of the supplement differs slightly in the attached documents the basis for the 

supplement was to assist Districts cover the costs of pay equity. Basically, districts were required to increase wages of 

female dominated positions (clerical and EAs at the time) to bring them up to similar wages of traditionally male 

dominated positions (custodial, trades etc.).

The Ministry of Education (as it then was) supported Districts in achieving pay equity. As noted in Deputy Minister 

Zacharuk’s letter of September 1, 2023 “progressive employers received minimal or no funding, while those with 

historical inequities received more.” Essentially, Districts like Nanaimo-Ladysmith who spent their operating dollars years 

in advance to address a fundamental issue of fairness received almost no funding. For example, Nanaimo-Ladysmith’s 

per FTE allocation for 2023 is equivalent to $10.70 per student, Abbotsford is equivalent to $4.96 per student, Vernon is 

1



equivalent to $9.73 per student, whereas one Vancouver district is equivalent to $186.60 per student and one island 

district is equivalent to $219.50 per student.  If Nanaimo-Ladysmith had been funded at the median amount of other 

districts, it would have received over $20,000,000 since the inception of the supplement. Many districts are in the same 

position.

Some aspects of funding are not provided on an equality basis (e.g. geographic supplements). These differences are 

well understood and provide equity (e.g. ensuring rural Districts can strive to meet the opportunities that urban District 

have). The pay equity supplement, however, literally penalizes Districts who as the Deputy Minister notes are 

“progressive employers” who proactively addressed a fundamental societal issue prior to government direction.

The motion, however, is not intended to reallocate the current supplement to hurt districts who currently benefit from the 

supplement nor to make up for lost time and opportunity. It is intended to rectify a serious and ironic injustice in how 

districts are funded.

Reference(s):
https://www.sd68.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/Feb-25-23-LTR-to-Minister-from-SD68.pdf

https://www.sd68.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/Aug-17-23-LTR-to-Minister-from-SD68.pdf

https://www.sd68.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/Jan-30-23-LTR-to-Minister-from-SD22.pdf

https://www.sd68.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/Sept-1-23-Letter-from-DM-Zacharuk.pdf

https://www.sd68.bc.ca/wp-content/uploads/Summary-of-Pay-Equity-Amounts.pdf

This is an action motion and does not change or contradict any existing Foundational Statement or Policy 
Statement.
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https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.sd68.bc.ca_wp-2Dcontent_uploads_Feb-2D25-2D23-2DLTR-2Dto-2DMinister-2Dfrom-2DSD68.pdf&d=DwQFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=fzZtHZM91S_Aas30uc3Szd-asq1OMr3JDeeRy75XD3Q&m=d4f6VCSC3PoGQRxG0_nPbTMGxqsO99lddpkYbPuuyfjzNT-6xDY-3erpaKdVKdW0&s=px04YcFbaQN28JVAqDqyLFgoAICB-budqsnB-nrk-KM&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.sd68.bc.ca_wp-2Dcontent_uploads_Aug-2D17-2D23-2DLTR-2Dto-2DMinister-2Dfrom-2DSD68.pdf&d=DwQFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=fzZtHZM91S_Aas30uc3Szd-asq1OMr3JDeeRy75XD3Q&m=d4f6VCSC3PoGQRxG0_nPbTMGxqsO99lddpkYbPuuyfjzNT-6xDY-3erpaKdVKdW0&s=Aoz2PEFvXUnkGWqe_-Txuk3vfnkD6jSOqS-9iCAxSZQ&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.sd68.bc.ca_wp-2Dcontent_uploads_Jan-2D30-2D23-2DLTR-2Dto-2DMinister-2Dfrom-2DSD22.pdf&d=DwQFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=fzZtHZM91S_Aas30uc3Szd-asq1OMr3JDeeRy75XD3Q&m=d4f6VCSC3PoGQRxG0_nPbTMGxqsO99lddpkYbPuuyfjzNT-6xDY-3erpaKdVKdW0&s=Oq870Vg9W8VQGyL2kdPi3vlsQO4tIjUPdtfi6Nkfeqk&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.sd68.bc.ca_wp-2Dcontent_uploads_Sept-2D1-2D23-2DLetter-2Dfrom-2DDM-2DZacharuk.pdf&d=DwQFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=fzZtHZM91S_Aas30uc3Szd-asq1OMr3JDeeRy75XD3Q&m=d4f6VCSC3PoGQRxG0_nPbTMGxqsO99lddpkYbPuuyfjzNT-6xDY-3erpaKdVKdW0&s=LcVZvYs32X65JiWiWDDtgii-3BfSLgP3cFOSgWDOlY8&e=
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President Carolyn Broady 
British Columbia School Trustees Association  
1580 W Broadway 
Vancouver, BC V6J 5K9 
 
November 23, 2023 
 
RE: Ensuring inclusivity for all B.C. students 
 
Dear President Broady,  
 
Our education system plays an integral role in developing our province’s young minds. For some 
students, school may be the only place they feel safe, and they need to be able to continue to 
access resources that help and support them when they need it most. To continue this, we must 
ensure our schools are inclusive and free from discrimination.  
 
It is crucial that we as legislators, uphold the B.C. Human Rights Code, which protects students from 
discrimination based on Indigenous identity, race, colour, ancestry, place of origin, religion, marital 
status, family status, physical or mental disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or 
expression, or age. Unfortunately, many students continue to be subjected to discrimination that 
threatens their well-being.  
 
At BC United, we strive to bring people together and advocate for inclusion for all who call our 
province home. We have been leaders in conducting important work in fostering inclusive schools 
and implementing important anti-bullying modules and educational resources, like SOGI123. We 
reinforce our commitment to defending all students so that no one has to face hatred or 
discrimination within our schools.  
 
A BC United government would continue our efforts to create positive and inclusive learning 
spaces, while we work on combatting all forms of bullying in our schools, as well as online.  
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 

Elenore Sturko 
BC United MLA for Surrey South 
Official Opposition Shadow Minister for Education  
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Cc: MLA Rachna Singh, Minister of Education and Child Care 
 BC School Superintendents Association 
 BC Association of School Business Officials 
 BC Principals’ and Vice-Principals’ Association 
 BC Teachers’ Federation 
 CUPE BC 
 BC Confederation of Parent Advisory Councils 
 Federation of Independent School Associations 
 First Nations Education Steering Committee 
 First Nations Schools Association 
 Métis Nation BC 
 



Ministry of Education and Child Care 
Office of the Deputy Minister 

Mailing address: 
PO Box 9179 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC  V8W 9H8 

Telephone:  (250) 387-2026 
Facsimile:    (250) 356-6007 

November 2�, 2023 

Ref: 294152 

Suzanne Hoffman, Chief Executive Officer  
BC School Trustees Association  
1580 W Broadway, Vancouver, BC V6J 5K9 
Email: shoffman@bcsta.org 

Dear Suzanne Hoffman: 

Thank you for your letter of September 6, 2023, regarding the Memorandum of Understanding 
between the Ministry of Education and the British Columbia School Trustees Association that 
was signed on November 30, 2018 (MoU).  

As you have noted, the five-year timeframe of the MoU ends on November 30, 2023, and the 
BCSTA board of directors has requested that the MoU be extended for up to two years. This 
would allow us to collectively develop a revised Memorandum of Understanding that includes 
consideration of the Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act Action Plan and our 
shared commitment to reconciliation.   

I am pleased to inform you that the Ministry is in agreement to extend the MoU until 
November 30, 2025, or until a revised Memorandum of Understanding is signed. We have 
prepared the attached letter, outlining our intention to extend the MoU, for your consideration 
and signature. We look forward to working towards a revised Memorandum of Understanding 
over the next two years.  

Sincerely, 

Christina Zacharuk 
Deputy Minister of Education and Child Care 

Attachment: Extending the Ministry of Education and BCSTA Memorandum of Understanding 



- 2 - 
 
 

pc:  BCSTA Board of Directors 
Carolyn Broady, President, BCSTA 
Cloe Nicholls, ADM, GAD 
Jennifer McCrea, ADM, SLSD 
 
 



Ministry of Education and Child Care 
Office of the Deputy Minister 

Mailing address: 
PO Box 9179 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC  V8W 9H8 

Telephone:  (250) 387-2026 
Facsimile:    (250) 356-6007 

November 2�� 2023 

   Ref: 294152 

Suzanne Hoffman, Chief Executive Officer  
BC School Trustees Association  
1580 W Broadway, Vancouver, BC V6J 5K9 
Email: shoffman@bcsta.org 

Dear Suzanne Hoffman:  

RE: Extending the Ministry of Education and BCSTA Memorandum of Understanding 

The Ministry of Education and Child Care and the British Columbia School Trustees Association 
(collectively, the “Parties”) both acknowledge that the Memorandum of Understanding between 
them, signed November 30, 2018, (the “MoU”), will expire on November 30, 2023, and that the 
Parties intend to develop and sign a revised Memorandum of Understanding (the “Revised 
MoU”).   

The Parties agree that until such time as a Revised MoU is signed, the MoU will remain in effect 
for an extended period of time from December 1, 2023, until the earlier of (i) such time that a 
Revised MoU is signed by the Parties, or (ii) November 30, 2025. For certainty, the MoU 
continues to be an aspirational document reflecting shared commitments of the Parties and is 
intended to guide the working relationship between the Parties.   

Please confirm British Columbia School Trustees Association’s understanding of the above by 
signing and returning a copy of this letter to my attention.  

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely,  

Christina Zacharuk  
Deputy Minister of Education and Child Care 
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On behalf of the British Columbia School Trustees Association, it is our intention that the 
Memorandum of Understanding, signed November 30, 2018, between the Ministry of Education 
and the British Columbia School Trustees Association will remain in effect for an extended 
period of time from December 1st 2023, until the earlier of (i) such time that a revised 
Memorandum of Understanding is signed, or (ii) November 30, 2025.  
  
  
By: _______________________________  
 
Name: ____________________________  
 
Title: _____________________________  
British Columbia School Trustees Association  
 
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  



 

 
1 

 
 

qathet School District 
4351 Ontario Avenue Powell River, BC V8A 1V3 Canada  
sd47.bc.ca | Tel:  604 485 6271 | Fax:  604 485 6435 
 

November 17, 2023 

 

ɬaʔamɩn Nation 

hɛgus John Hackett 

4779 Klahanie Road 

Tla’amin, BC V8A 0C4 

Email to: john.hackett@tn-bc.ca  

Dear hɛgus Hackett, 

RE:  First Nations Schools of Choice (SoC) Policy 

We are pleased to share the following information with you and your legislative assembly. As a result of 
collaborative efforts between the Ministry of Education and Child Care and the First Nations Education Steering 
Committee, a new provision is being added to the School Act, which empowers First Nations to make choices 
regarding the education of First Nation learners residing on Treaty gɩǰɛ.  
 
The "First Nations Schools of Choice" provisions within the School Act outline a process through which First Nations 
can designate which schools students residing on self-governing First Nation lands, or Treaty lands will attend. 
These provisions are designed to enable First Nations to select an elementary and secondary school for their čičuy, 
allowing them to exercise autonomy over their educational systems. Importantly, First Nations will determine the 
schools their čičuy will attend through their internal processes, reflecting their cultural values and community 
preferences. In cases where a First Nation parent or caregiver wishes to enroll their čuy in a program or school 
other than the designated school(s) of choice, the existing enrollment provisions of the School Act remain 
applicable. 
 
Our long-standing partnership and collaboration has always allowed ɬaʔamɩn čičuy to attend their school of choice 
and that is also enshrined in the ɬaʔamɩn Education Agreement (TEA). To support efficient administration of this 
new provision, we kindly request that the necessary information be provided to our District Principal, Jessica 
Johnson, by March 30th of each year. 
 
čɛčɛhatanapɛcšt (we would like to express our sincere gratitude) for your ongoing partnership and collaboration as 
we work together to improve the educational opportunities for ɬaʔamɩn students. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Dr. Jay Yule       
Superintendent      
Board of Education      
qathet School District 
 
 

https://www.facebook.com/schooldistrict47
https://www.instagram.com/sd47powell/
https://twitter.com/sd47_board
https://www.facebook.com/schooldistrict47
https://www.instagram.com/sd47powell/
https://twitter.com/sd47_board
mailto:john.hackett@tn-bc.ca
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qathet School District • 4351 Ontario Avenue Powell River, BC V8A 1V3 Canada • 604 485 6271 • sd47.bc.ca 

CC:  Jaclyn Miller, Chairperson, qathet School District  

Jessica Johnson, District Principal of Indigenous Education, qathet School District 

Sophie Call, Director of Education, ɬaʔamɩn Nation 

Tara Tipton, Education Manager, K-12, ɬaʔamɩn Nation 

Tana Harry, Council Secretary, ɬaʔamɩn Nation 
Dillon Johnson, Community Services House Post, ɬaʔamɩn Nation 

 
 
JY/er  

 



SCHOOL DISTRICT 47 - SUSPENSION, EXCLUSION AND SECLUSION REPORT YEAR TO DATE 2023-2024

SUSPENSIONS (BY INCIDENT) SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE YEAR TO DATE

10 days or less (non-violent) 2 3 3 8

10 days or less (violent) 2 1 3

11-20 days (non-violent) 0

11-20 days (violent) 0

20 days or more (non-violent) 0

20 days or more (violent) 0

Indefinite (non-violent) 0

Indefinite (violent/threats of violence) 0

Indefinite (first drug offence) 0

Less than 20 days (first drug/alcohol offence) 0

Less than 20 days (second + drug/alcohol offence) 0

20 + days (first drug offence) 0

20 + days (second + drug offence) 0

Indefinite (second + drug/alcohol offence) 0

In-school suspension 0

TOTAL SUSPENSIONS 2 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

EXCLUSIONS

Exclusions - Elementary 0

Exclusions - Secondary 0

SECLUSIONS

Seclusions - Elementary 0

Seclusions - Secondary 0

(Violent incidents include: fighting, physical

altercations, threats of bodily harm, etc.

Verbal is considered violent if threatening)



Date: 15-Dec-2023 12:43 S.D.#47(Powell River) Page: 1

REPORT TO TRUSTEES
FOR THE PERIOD ENDING: November 30, 2023

EXPENDITURESCOMMITMENTS TOTAL BUDGET BALANCE AVAIL %

INSTRUCTION

100 Salaries 8,600,337 0 8,600,337 26,185,096 17,584,759 67

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 1,813,056 0 1,813,056 5,879,241 4,066,185 69

300 Services Purchased 1,205,609 2,288 1,207,897 3,683,362 2,475,465 67

500 Supplies And Materials 927,804 0 927,804 2,176,097 1,248,293 57

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For INSTRUCTION 12,546,806 2,288 12,549,094 37,923,796 25,374,702 67

DISTRICT ADMINISTRATION

100 Salaries 599,085 0 599,085 1,556,284 957,199 62

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 101,956 0 101,956 333,813 231,857 69

300 Services Purchased 151,482 0 151,482 372,205 220,723 59

500 Supplies And Materials 12,316 0 12,316 74,179 61,863 83

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For DISTRICT

ADMINISTRATION

864,839 0 864,839 2,336,481 1,471,642 63

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

100 Salaries 608,713 0 608,713 1,827,830 1,219,117 67

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 123,490 0 123,490 398,560 275,070 69

300 Services Purchased 506,920 0 506,920 880,000 373,080 42

500 Supplies And Materials 347,269 0 347,269 1,168,802 821,533 70

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For OPERATIONS AND

MAINTENANCE

1,586,392 0 1,586,392 4,275,192 2,688,800 63

TRANSPORTATION & HOUSING

100 Salaries 253,878 0 253,878 664,717 410,839 62

200 Employee Benefits And Allowances 58,968 0 58,968 149,424 90,456 61

300 Services Purchased 42,508 0 42,508 54,087 11,579 21

500 Supplies And Materials 147,696 0 147,696 265,000 117,304 44

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Total For TRANSPORTATION &

HOUSING

503,050 0 503,050 1,133,228 630,178 56

------------- ------------ ---------- ---------- ---------- ----------

Grand Total 15,501,087 2,288 15,503,375 45,668,697 30,165,322 66



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 

12:00 pm, Wednesday, December 13, 2023 
School Board Office 

 
NOTES 

 

 

Present: Jaclyn Miller, Kirsten Van’t Schip, Rob Hill, Dale Lawson, Maureen Mason 

Also in attendance: Jay Yule (Superintendent), Steve Hopkins (Secretary-Treasurer) 

 

The meeting was called to order at 12:01 p.m. by Chairperson Miller.  

 

1. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

MOVED:  D. Lawson 

SECONDED:  K. Van’t Schip 

THAT the Committee of the Whole Meeting Agenda of December 13, 2023, be adopted as 
circulated. 

STATUS:  CARRIED 

 
2. STANDING COMMITTEES 

2.a) Education & Strategic Planning Committee 

2.a.i) Confirmation of Superintendent & Board Evaluations – Discussion 

Trustees reviewed a positive letter of referral for L. Sloan provided by SD5 and 
agreed to move forward with a facilitated evaluation as described in current 
board policy. Staff will contact Mr. Sloan to make arrangements and expect that 
the evaluation will take place in the Spring, ideally around the same time as a 
scheduled Committee of the Whole, subject to his availability.  
 

2.a.ii) Survey Data Related to Board Governance 

The committee discussed a summary of collated feedback that summarized 
community and stakeholder feedback that was collected through a survey and 
used to inform the board’s strategic plan. The board considered the use of the 
survey data in the development of the plan. Trustees considered if the data 

qathet School District 

4351 Ontario Avenue Powell River, BC V8A 1V3 Canada  

sd47.bc.ca | Tel:  604 485 6271 | Fax:  604 485 6435 

https://www.facebook.com/schooldistrict47
https://www.instagram.com/sd47powell/
https://twitter.com/sd47_board


 

 

 

could be used as part of the facilitated evaluations, among other data that could 
help to illuminate the communities feedback on board related and governance.  

 
2.b) Finance & Facilities Committee 

2.b.i) Statement of Financial Information  

S. Hopkins presented the Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) for review. 
Predominantly comprised of Audited Financial Statements (FS), the report also 
incorporates various schedules. These schedules include, among others, a list 
of vendors receiving amounts exceeding $25,000, a consolidated total of 
spending on vendors who were under that threshold, a detailed schedule of 
employees earning more than $75,000 and a consolidated summary of payroll 
costs. These disclosures are mandated by statutory requirements and will be 
available to the public on the ministry’s website. The SOFI report will be 
included in the regular board package, accompanied by a motion for approval. 

 
2.c) Policy Committee 

2.c.i) Policy 8 Board Committees – Prospective Amendments  

Items 2.c and 3.a were discussed as a whole. During the discussion in item 3.a, 
trustees examined the prospective amendments. S. Hopkins pointed out that 
certain general housekeeping edits were implemented to align with current 
practices.   

2.c.ii) Policy 9 Board Representatives – Prospective Amendments 

Trustees reviewed proposed language outlining a process for "Administrative 
Committee Representation" and agreed that the language helps to bring clarity 
to board appointments to administrative committees.  

 
3. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

3.a)  Prospective Committee Structure & Trustee Appointments 

Trustees and staff assessed current trustee appointments to both internal and external 
committees. Currently, the board's standing committees operate within the Committee 
of the Whole. Trustees approved a new structure for internal and external committees 
and deliberated on trustee appointments to those committees for the upcoming year. 
The committee examined each internal and external community committee and 
reached the following decisions: 

• The Indigenous Education Council has been relocated to external committees due to 
recent School Act amendments which mandate Indigenous leadership on the 
council. The board's TEA with the Tla’amin Nation also mandates the formation of 
an IEC, and a trustee may be appointed once the council has been established. 

• A staff member will be designated to the Northern Ferry Advisory Council owing to 
the operational nature of the council’s work. 

• A staff member will be appointed to the Powell River Community Action Team. 

• The board will cease appointing a trustee to the Social Action and Planning Advisory 
as the committee has been inactive for several years. 



 

 

 

• Trustee appointment to the District Parent Advisory Council will continue. 

• The board will entertain requests for appointments to external community 
committees as they are received. 

• Board policy is clear that trustees in committee appointments are not decision-
makers. Committees can make recommendations to the board for consideration 
and action. 

• Trustee appointment to the French Advisory Committee will be discontinued due to 
the operational nature of the committee following the establishment of an 
immersion program. 

• Labour Negotiations will be removed from the list as appointments only occur 
during negotiations and are designated to the Board’s BCPSEA representative. 

• Trustee appointment to the Educational and Curriculum Change Committee will 
cease due to the operational nature of their discussions. Recommendations from 
that committee will be presented at the board table. 

• After reviewing the collective agreement, it became evident to staff that a trustee 
appointment was unnecessary for the Joint Management Committee, which 
primarily deals with operational issues. 

Trustees will continue to appoint representatives to internal committees supporting 
strategic goals, including the Environmental and Sustainability Committee, the Health 
Committee, and the Justice, Equity, Diversity, Inclusion (JEDI) Committee.  

Additionally, the board will continue appointing a trustee to the district Sexual 
Orientation and Gender Identity (SOGI) committee to offer support in light of the 
divisive climate in some BC school districts. Furthermore, J. Yule has committed to 
obtaining the terms of reference for the VCH Local Governance Liaison Committee and 
presenting them to the board for consideration. 
 
Trustee appointments for the upcoming year will be finalized at the December regular 
meeting. 
 

4. OTHER INFORMATION 
4.a) Parent Correspondence Regarding Screen Time for Students 

The board engaged in a discussion regarding a letter received from a parent advocating 
for the restriction of screen time for students during lunch breaks. I. Loveluck 
highlighted the presence of valid arguments both in favor of limiting screen time and 
supporting continued brief access during non-instructional periods. Acknowledging the 
complexity of the issue, the district will consider the parent's request, ensuring broad 
representation is involved before formulating any recommendations. 
 
Additionally, the board recognized the contractual obligation for teachers to provide 10 
minutes of student supervision during non-instructional time. Chairperson Miller 
confirmed receipt of the parent's letter, and J. Yule committed to investigate the 
matter, considering best practices, and subsequently report back to the board. 
 
 

4.b) BCSTA Climate Action Working Group 



 

 

 

Trustees reviewed inquiries from the BCSTA Climate Action Working Group directed to 
the South Coast Branch. D. Lawson presented a prior response to the Working Group 
that could serve as a foundation for addressing their latest questions. Trustees 
expressed their intention to communicate with the working group to ensure awareness 
of a provincial Governance Climate Action Committee, which may offer additional 
resources in developing best practices related to climate change for school districts. 

In response to the queries, the board will emphasize: 

• Identifying organizational and environmental sustainability as a clear priority in 
strategic plans. 

• Ensuring operational plans incorporate learning opportunities about climate 
change for students, staff, and families. 

• Providing mechanisms to identify opportunities for improvement in waste 
reduction/footprint (e.g., student or staff-led committees, leadership support 
and development). 

• Ensuring policies and procedures are established for capital planning upgrades 
(solar, lighting, electric vehicles, etc.) to ensure organizational streamlining and 
effective practices. 

• Supporting the ongoing development of sustainable food programs, school 
gardens, outdoor programs, and other initiatives to connect with and appreciate 
the natural environment. 

• Leveraging media partners and sharing networks to draw attention to climate 
issues, thereby increasing community awareness and fostering opportunities for 
partnership. 

 
4.c) Board Work Plan – For Information    

Trustees agreed to support the “Wear the Rainbow” and “Pink Shirt Day” campaigns. 
Trustees will also add SOGI Bingo to an upcoming Committee of the Whole agenda. 
Trustees will be expected to complete SOGI Bingo pre-reading in order to prepare for 
the game. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 1:41 p.m. 
 
SH/attachments 



 
School District 

Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
 

qathet School District 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Documents are arranged in the following order: 
 

1. Approval of Statement of Financial Information 
 
2. Financial Information Act Submission Checklist 
 
3. Management Report 
 
4. Audited Financial Statements 
 
5. Schedule of Debt 
 
6. Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements 
 
7. Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses including: 

 Statement of Severance Agreements 
 Reconciliation or explanation of differences to Audited Financial 

Statements 
 

8. Schedule of Payments for the Provision of Goods and Services including: 
 Reconciliation or explanation of differences to Audited Financial 

Statements 



SCHOOL DISTRICT 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

(SOFI) 
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SUPERINTENDENT  Jay Yule   TELEPHONE (604) 414-2600 
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DECLARATION AND SIGNATURES 
 
We, the undersigned, certify that the attached is a correct and true copy of the Statement of Financial 
Information for the year ended June 30, 2023 for School District No.47 as required under Section 2 of 
the Financial Information Act. 
 
 
SIGNATURE OF CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES   DATE SIGNED 
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Statement of Financial Information for Year Ended June 30, 2023 
Financial Information Act-Submission Checklist 

 
 
 

Due Date 
 

a)    A statement of assets and liabilities (audited financial statements).    September 30 
 
b)    An operational statement including, i) a Statement of Income and ii) a  September 30  

Statement of Changes in Financial Position, or, if omitted, an explanation in the 
Notes to Financial Statements (audited financial statements) 

 
c)    A schedule of debts (audited financial statements).      September 30 
 
d)    A schedule of guarantee and indemnity agreements including the names of the September 30 

entities involved and the amount of money involved. (Note: Nil schedules can 
be submitted December 31). 

 
e)  A schedule of remuneration and expenses, including:    December 31 
 

i) an alphabetical list of employees earning over $75,000, the total amount of 
expenses paid to or on behalf of each employee for the year reported and a 
consolidated total for employees earning under $75,000. If the total wages and 
expenses differs from the audited financial statements, an explanation is required. 
 

   ii) a list by name and position of Board Members with the amount of any salary and 
expenses paid to or on behalf of the member 
 

  iii) the number of severance agreements started during the fiscal year and the 
range of months' pay covered by the agreement, in respect of excluded 
employees. If there are no agreements to report, an explanation is required 
 

f)    An alphabetical list of suppliers receiving over $25,000 and a consolidated total December 31 
 for those suppliers receiving less than $25,000. If the total differs from the 

Audited Financial Statements, an explanation is required. 
 
g) Approval of Statement of Financial Information.      December 31 
 
h)    A management report approved by the Chief Financial Officer    December 31 

School District Number & Name  
 
 
 
 
qathet School District 



Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
qathet School District 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 

The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the Financial 
Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted for British Columbia school districts as prescribed or permitted by the Ministry of Education and 
the integrity and objectivity of these statements are management's responsibility. 
 
Management is also responsible for all other schedules of financial information and for ensuring this 
information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained in the financial statements 
and for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that 
reliable financial information is produced. 
 
The Board of School Trustees is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and internal control and for approving the financial information included in the 
Statement of Financial Information. 
 
The external auditors, Meyers, Norris, Penney, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial statements as required by 
the School Act. Their examination does not relate to the other schedules of financial information required 
by the Financial Information Act. Their examination includes a review and evaluation of the board's 
system of internal control and appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are presented fairly. 
 
 

On behalf of School District 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Jay Yule, Superintendent 
Date: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Steve Hopkins, Secretary Treasurer 
Date: 
 

 
 
Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 9 
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T: 250.287.2131   F: 250.287.2134201, 990 Cedar Street, Campbell River B.C., V9W 7Z8
MNP LLP

    MNP.ca

LLP - Campbell River - 990 Cedar Street

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River) and the Minister of Education: 

 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of School District No. 47 (Powell River) (the “School District”), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at June 30, 2023, and the statements of operations, 
statement of changes in net debt and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present the financial position of the School District as at June 30, 2023 
and the results of its operations, remeasurement gains and losses, changes in net debt and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in compliance with, in all material respects, the financial reporting framework based on 
Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the Province of British Columbia’s 
Treasury Board Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011. 
 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the School District in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion.  
 

Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 2 which describes the financial reporting framework being followed by School District 
No. 47 (Powell River). 
 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s 
report comprises of Unaudited Schedules 1-4 attached to the audited financial statements and Financial 
Statement Discussion and Analysis but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the financial reporting framework based on Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
and the Province of British Columbia’s Treasury Board Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the School District’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management intends to liquidate the School District or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the School District’s financial reporting process.  
 

 

 



Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.  
 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the School District’s internal control 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the School District’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the School District to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
 
  
 
Campbell River, BC  
 
September 20, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
 
 
 
 
 





Statement 2

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education and Child Care 41,372,480          42,715,709          38,390,011          

Other 100,000               115,554               145,872               

Tuition 874,182               887,702               1,192,761            

Other Revenue 2,087,439            3,684,066            2,438,827            

Rentals and Leases 125,900               176,367               143,648               

Investment Income 107,500               276,481               53,391                

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,663,578            1,755,075            1,712,193            

Total Revenue 46,331,079          49,610,954          44,076,703          

Expenses

Instruction 38,369,569          40,736,499          34,346,233          

District Administration 1,999,981            1,954,617            1,647,672            

Operations and Maintenance 5,996,168            7,029,617            6,248,869            

Transportation and Housing 1,203,775            1,411,770            1,188,111            

Total Expense 47,569,493          51,132,503          43,430,885          

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (1,238,414)          (1,521,549)          645,818               

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, beginning of year 12,474,595          11,828,777          

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, end of year 10,953,046          12,474,595          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 5977-5231-3249

 September 20, 2023  14:58 Page 5



Statement 4

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (1,238,414)          (1,521,549)          645,818               

Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (2,336,872)          (2,864,734)          

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,929,649            2,095,032            2,025,492            

Total Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets 1,929,649            (241,840)             (839,242)             

Acquisition of Prepaid Expenses (4,121)                 (23,216)               

Total Effect of change in Other Non-Financial Assets -                          (4,121)                 (23,216)               

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt, before Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) 691,235               (1,767,510)          (216,640)             

Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt (1,767,510)          (216,640)             

Net Debt, beginning of year (34,513,165)        (34,296,525)        

Net Debt, end of year (36,280,675)        (34,513,165)        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Changes in Net Debt

Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 5977-5231-3249

 September 20, 2023  14:58 Page 6



Statement 5

2023 2022

Actual Actual

(Restated - Note 20)

$ $

Operating Transactions

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (1,521,549)         645,818             

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Decrease (Increase)

Accounts Receivable (225,722)            78,146               

Prepaid Expenses (4,121)                (23,216)              

Increase (Decrease)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 892,735             271,623             

Unearned Revenue (100,935)            (43,089)              

Deferred Revenue (229,938)            264,513             

Employee Future Benefits (26,117)              29,700               

Other Liabilities (11,763)              

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 2,095,032          2,025,492          

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (1,755,075)         (1,712,193)         

Total Operating Transactions (887,453)            1,536,794          

Capital Transactions

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (2,336,872)         (2,864,734)         

Total Capital Transactions (2,336,872)         (2,864,734)         

Financing Transactions

Capital Revenue Received 1,691,690          3,157,274          

Total Financing Transactions 1,691,690          3,157,274          

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1,532,635)         1,829,334          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 9,247,733          7,418,399          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 7,715,098          9,247,733          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year, is made up of:

Cash 7,715,098          9,247,733          

7,715,098          9,247,733          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended June 30, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Version: 5977-5231-3249

 September 20, 2023  14:58 Page 7
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NOTE 1 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 
   

 
The School District, operates under authority of the School Act of British Columbia as a corporation 
under the name of "The Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River)", and operates 
as "School District No. 47 (Powell River)."  A board of education (“Board”) elected for a four-year 
term governs the School District.  The School District provides educational programs to students 
enrolled in schools in the district, and is principally funded by the Province of British Columbia 
through the Ministry of Education and Child Care. School District No. 47 (Powell River) is exempt 
from federal and provincial corporate income taxes. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 
2020 and has had a significant financial, market and social dislocating impact worldwide.    The 
ongoing impact of the pandemic presents uncertainty over future cash flows, may have a significant 
impact on future operations including decreases in revenue, impairment of receivables, reduction in 
investment income and delays in completing capital project work.  As the situation is dynamic and 
the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact are not known, an estimate of the future financial 
effect on the District is not practicable at this time. 
 
 
NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
a) Basis of Accounting  

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1 of the Budget 
Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia. This Section requires 
that the financial statements be prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards except in regard to the accounting for government transfers as set out in Notes 2(e) 
and 2(l).  
 
In November 2011, Treasury Board provided a directive through Restricted Contributions 
Regulation 198/2011 providing direction for the reporting of restricted contributions whether 
they are received or receivable by the School District before or after this regulation was in 
effect.  
 
As noted in notes 2(e) and 2(l), Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act 
and its related regulations require the School District to recognize government transfers for the 
acquisition of capital assets into revenue on the same basis as the related amortization expense. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

a) Basis of Accounting (cont’d) 
 

As these transfers do not contain stipulations that create a liability, Canadian public sector 
accounting standards would require that: 
 

 government transfers, which do not contain a stipulation that creates a liability, be 
recognized as revenue by the recipient when approved by the transferor and the 
eligibility criteria have been met in accordance with public sector accounting standard 
PS3410; and 

 
 externally restricted contributions be recognized as revenue in the period in which the 

resources are used for the purpose or purposes specified in accordance with public sector 
accounting standard PS3100. 

 
The impact of this difference on the financial statements of the School District is as follows: 
 
Year-ended June 30, 2022 – increase in annual surplus by $1,445,081 
June 30, 2022 – increase in accumulated surplus and increase in deferred contributions by 
$38,025,548 
Year-ended June 30, 2023 – decrease in annual surplus by $63,385 
June 30, 2023 – increase in accumulated surplus and increase in deferred contributions by 
$37,962,163 

 
b) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid securities that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  These 
cash equivalents generally have a maturity of three months or less at acquisition and are held for 
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing. 
 

c) Accounts Receivable 
 
 Accounts receivables are measured at amortized cost and shown net of allowance for doubtful 

accounts. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
d) Unearned Revenue 

 
Unearned revenue includes tuition fees received for courses to be delivered in future periods and 
receipt of proceeds for services or products to be delivered in a future period. Revenue will be 
recognized in that future period when the courses, services, or products are provided. 

 
e) Deferred Revenue and Deferred Capital Revenue 

 
Deferred revenue includes contributions received with stipulations that meet the description of 
restricted contributions in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board. When restrictions are met, deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year in 
a manner consistent with the circumstances and evidence used to support the initial recognition 
of the contributions received as a liability as detailed in Note 2 (l). 

 
Funding received for the acquisition of depreciable tangible capital assets is recorded as deferred 
capital revenue and amortized over the life of the asset acquired as revenue in the statement of 
operations.  This accounting treatment is not consistent with the requirements of Canadian 
public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be recognized as 
revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met unless the 
transfer contains a stipulation that creates a liability in which case the transfer is recognized as 
revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See note 2 (a) for the impact of this 
policy on these financial statements. 
 

f) Prepaid Expenses 
 
Insurance premiums, and software licensing and support, are included as a prepaid expense and 
stated at acquisition cost and are charged to expense over the periods expected to benefit from it.  

 
g) Funds and Reserves 

 
Certain amounts, as approved by the Board are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. Transfers to and from funds and reserves are an adjustment to 
the respective fund when approved (see Notes 13 – Interfund Transfers and Note 18 – 
Accumulated Surplus).  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
h) Employee Future Benefits 
 

The School District provides certain post-employment benefits including vested and non-vested 
benefits for certain employees pursuant to certain contracts and union agreements. The School 
District accrues its obligations and related costs including both vested and non-vested benefits 
under employee future benefit plans. Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-
vested sick leave, early retirement, retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. 
The benefits cost is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method pro-rated on 
service and using management’s best estimate of expected salary escalation, termination rates, 
retirement rates and mortality. The discount rate used to measure obligations is based on the cost 
of borrowing. The cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the 
expected average remaining service lifetime of active employees covered under the plan.   
 
The most recent valuation of the obligation was performed at March 31, 2022 and projected  
to March 31, 2025. The next valuation will be performed at March 31, 2025 for use at  
June 30, 2025. For the purposes of determining the financial position of the plans and the 
employee future benefit costs, a measurement date of March 31 was adopted for all periods 
subsequent to July 1, 2004. 
 
The School district and its employees make contributions to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and 
Municipal Pension Plan.  The plans are multi-employer plans where assets and obligations are 
not separated. The costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites  
 
Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard.  The liability is recorded net of any expected recoveries. A liability for 
remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use and all the 
following criteria are met: 
 

 an environmental standard exists; 
 contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 
 the School District: 

o is directly responsible; or 
o accepts responsibility;  

 it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 
 a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites (cont’d) 
 
The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, 
maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site. 
 

j) Measurement Uncertainty 
 

Preparation of financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting described in note 
2 a) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the 
potential impairment of assets, liabilities for contaminated sites, asset retirement obligations, 
rates for amortization and estimated employee future benefits.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets 
 
The following criteria apply: 

 Tangible capital assets acquired or constructed are recorded at cost which includes 
amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, 
improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost also includes overhead directly 
attributable to construction as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the asset. 

 Donated tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair market value on the date of 
donation, except in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, 
which are then recognized at nominal value. Transfers of capital assets from related 
parties are recorded at carrying value.  

 Work-in-progress is recorded as an acquisition to the applicable asset class at substantial 
completion. 

 Tangible capital assets are written down to residual value when conditions indicate they 
no longer contribute to the ability of the School District to provide services or when the 
value of future economic benefits associated with the sites and buildings are less than 
their net book value. The write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Statement of 
Operations. 

 Buildings that are demolished or destroyed are written-off. 
 Works of art, historic assets and other intangible assets are not recorded as assets in these 

financial statements. 
 The cost, less residual value, of tangible capital assets (excluding sites), is amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. It is management’s 
responsibility to determine the appropriate useful lives for tangible capital assets. These 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

k) Tangible Capital Assets (cont’d) 
 
useful lives are reviewed on a regular basis or if significant events initiate the need to 
revise. Estimated useful life is as follows: 
 

Buildings 40 years 
Furniture & Equipment 10 years 
Vehicles 10 years 
Computer Software 5 years 
Computer Hardware 5 years 

 
l) Revenue Recognition 

 

Revenues are recorded on an accrual basis in the period in which the transactions or events 
occurred that gave rise to the revenues, the amounts are considered to be collectible and can be 
reasonably estimated. 

 
Contributions received or where eligibility criteria have been met are recognized as revenue 
except where the contribution meets the criteria for deferral as described below. Eligibility 
criteria are the criteria that the School District has to meet in order to receive the contributions 
including authorization by the transferring government. 
 
For contributions subject to a legislative or contractual stipulation or restriction as to their use, 
revenue is recognized as follows: 
 

 Non-capital contributions for specific purposes are recorded as deferred revenue and 
recognized as revenue in the year related expenses are incurred, 

 Contributions restricted for site acquisitions are recorded as revenue when the sites are 
purchased, and 

 Contributions restricted for tangible capital assets acquisitions other than sites are 
recorded as deferred capital revenue and amortized over the useful life of the related 
assets.  

 
Donated tangible capital assets other than sites are recorded at fair market value and amortized 
over the useful life of the assets. Donated sites are recorded as revenue at fair market value when 
received or receivable. 

 
The accounting treatment for restricted contributions is not consistent with the requirements of 
Canadian public sector accounting standards which require that government transfers be 
recognized as revenue when approved by the transferor and eligibility criteria have been met.  
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

l) Revenue Recognition (cont’d) 
 
unless the transfer contains a stipulation that meets the criteria for liability recognition in which 
case the transfer is recognized as revenue over the period that the liability is extinguished.  See 
note 2(a) for the impact of this policy on these financial statements. 
 
Revenue related to fees or services received in advance of the fee being earned or the service is 
performed is deferred and recognized when the fee is earned or service performed. 
 
Investment income is reported in the period earned. When required by the funding party or 
related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to the deferred revenue 
balance. 
 

m) Expenses 
 
Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed, and services 
received during the year is expensed. 

 
 Categories of Salaries 

 Principals, Vice-Principals, and Directors of Instruction employed under an 
administrative officer contract are categorized as Principals and Vice-Principals. 

 Superintendents, Assistant Superintendents, Secretary-Treasurers, Trustees and other 
employees excluded from union contracts are categorized as Other Professionals. 

 
Allocation of Costs  

 Operating expenses are reported by function, program, and object. Whenever possible, 
expenditures are determined by actual identification. Additional costs pertaining to 
specific instructional programs, such as special and aboriginal education, are allocated to 
these programs. All other costs are allocated to related programs. 

 Actual salaries of personnel assigned to two or more functions or programs are allocated 
based on the time spent in each function and program.  School-based clerical salaries are 
allocated to school administration and partially to other programs to which they may be 
assigned. Principals and Vice-Principals salaries are allocated to school administration 
and may be partially allocated to other programs to recognize their other responsibilities. 

 Employee benefits and allowances are allocated to the same programs, and in the same 
proportions, as the individual’s salary. 

 Supplies and services are allocated based on actual program identification. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
n) Financial Instruments  

 
A contract establishing a financial instrument creates, at its inception, rights and obligations to 
receive or deliver economic benefits. The financial assets and financial liabilities portray these 
rights and obligations in the financial statements. The School District recognizes a financial 
instrument when it becomes a party to a financial instrument contract.  
 
Financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, and other liabilities. 
 
All financial assets and liabilities are recorded at cost or amortized cost and the associated 
transaction costs are added to the carrying value of these investments upon initial recognition 

and amortized using the effective interest rate method. Transaction costs are incremental costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or a financial liability.  

 
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are 
recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative 
gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized 
in the statement of operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are 
reported in the statement of operations. There are no measurement gains or losses during the 
periods presented; therefore, no statement of remeasurement gains or losses is included in these 
financial statements. 
 
All financial assets except derivatives are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets 
are impaired, impairment losses are recorded in the statement of operations. A write-down of a 
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  
  
For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is 
used to determine interest revenue or expense.  
 

 
o) Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

 
A statement of re-measurement gains and losses has not been presented as the District does not 
hold any financial assets or liabilities that would give rise to remeasurement gains or losses. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
p) Asset Retirement Obligations 

 

A liability is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date: 

(a)     there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset; 

(b)     the past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; 

(c)     it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(d)     a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 
  

The liability for the removal of asbestos and other hazardous material in several of the buildings 
owned by the School District has been initially recognized using the modified retroactive 
method. The liability has been measured at current cost as the timing and amounts of future cash 
flows cannot be estimated. The resulting costs have been capitalized into the carrying amount of 
tangible capita assets and are being amortized on the same basis as the related tangible capital 
asset (see note 2k). Assumptions used in the calculations are reviewed annually.  

 

q) Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

PS 3400 Revenue issued November 2018 establishes standards on how to account for and report 
on revenue and is effective July 1, 2023. Specifically, it differentiates between revenue arising 
from transactions that include performance obligations, referred to as "exchange transactions", 
and transactions that do not have performance obligations, referred to as "non-exchange 
transactions". 

Revenue from transactions with performance obligations should be recognized when (or as) 
the school district satisfies a performance obligation by providing the promised goods or services 
to a payor. 

Revenue from transactions with no performance obligations should be recognized when a school 
district: 

 (a)     has the authority to claim or retain an inflow of economic resources; and 
 (b)     identifies a past transaction or event that gives rise to an asset. 

 

This standard may be applied retroactively or prospectively.  Management is in the process of 
assessing the impact of adopting this standard on the School District’s financial results 
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NOTE 3 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - OTHER 
 
 2023 2022 

   
Due from Federal Government        $132,637 

 
$101,031 

 
Due from Others 214,408 99,474 

   
 $347,045 $200,505 

 
 
 
NOTE 4 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES – OTHER 
 
 2023 2022 
   
Trade and other payables  $1,395,672 $977,179 
Salaries and benefits payable 169,970 100,346 
Deductions Payable 1,795,447 1,390,829 
   
 $3,361,089 $2,468,354 

 
 
 
NOTE 5 EXPENSE BY OBJECT 
  2023 

 

 2022 
 

Salaries  $28,196,070 $24,579,935 
Benefits 6,498,856 5,374,500 
Services and supplies 14,342,545 11,450,958 
Amortization 2,095,032 2,025,492 
 $51,132,503 $43,430,885 
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NOTE 6 DEFERRED REVENUE 
 
Deferred revenue includes unspent grants and contributions received that meet the description of a 
restricted contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury 
Board, i.e., the stipulations associated with those grants and contributions have not yet been 
fulfilled. Detailed information about the changes in deferred revenue are as follows:  

 
 

2023  
 

2022 
    
Balance, beginning of year $   832,713   $   568,191 

Increases: 
   Provincial Grant – MOE 

                   
$5,223,056   

                   
$4,601,476  

    
Other 2,172,455  1,122,015 
                          

 7,395,511    5,723,491  
Decreases:    

       Transfers to Revenue 7,625,449   5,458,969  
    

Net Changes for the year (229,938)   264,522 
    
Balance, end of the year $602,775    $832,713  
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NOTE 7  DEFERRED CAPITAL REVENUE 
 
Deferred capital revenue includes grants and contributions received that are restricted by the 
contributor for the acquisition of tangible capital assets that meet the description of a restricted 
contribution in the Restricted Contributions Regulation 198/2011 issued by Treasury Board. Once 
spent, the contributions are amortized into revenue over the life of the asset acquired. Detailed 
information about the changes in deferred capital revenue is as follows: 
  
         

 

           
Deferred Cap 

Revenue 

   Unspent 
Def. Cap 
Revenue 

Total        
2023  2022 

Balance, beginning of year  $37,137,548 $ 888,000 $ 38,025,548  36,580,467 
 

Increases: 
  

   

Transfers from DC - capital additions         1,849,237  1,849,237  2,269,274 
      

      
Provincial Grants – MECC 
Provincial Grants - Other 
Other  

1,691,690 
 
 

     1,691,690 
 
  

2,000,124 
888,000 
269,150 

 
  

1,849,237 
   

1,691,690 3,540,927  5,426,548 
Decreases:      

Amortization         1,755,075  1,755,075  1,712,193 
Transfers to DCR - Capital Additions       1,849,237   1,849,237  2,269,274 

      

 Net Changes 
       

94,162 
 

 (157,547)    (63,385)    1,445,081 
      

 
Balance, end of the year 
 

   
 

$37,231,710 
 

                                           
 

$ 730,453 
 

$ 37,962,163 
  

$ 38,025,548 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 
 
Benefits include vested sick leave, accumulating non-vested sick leave, early retirement, 
retirement/severance, vacation, overtime and death benefits. Funding is provided when the benefits 
are paid and accordingly, there are no plan assets.  Although no plan assets are uniquely identified, 
the School District has provided for the payment of these benefits.  
 
 

 2023 2022 
Reconciliation of Accrued Benefit Obligation 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – April 1    $803,840 $846,802 
Service Cost 73,740 69,769 
Interest Cost 27,138 22,099 
Benefit Payments (157,957) (79,325) 
Increase (Decrease) in obligation due to Plan Amendment - - 
Actuarial Loss  63,552 (55,505) 
Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $810,313 $803,840 

 
Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Fiscal Year 

Accrued Benefit Obligation – March 31 $810,313 $803,840 
Market Value of Plan Assets – March 31 - - 
Funded Status – Deficit (810,313) (803,840) 
Employer Contributions After Measurement Date - 18,000 
Benefits Expense After Measurement Date (26,412) (25,220) 
Unamortized Net Actuarial (Gain) Loss 45,021 (6,759) 
Accrued Benefit Liability – June 30 $(791,702) $(817,819) 

 
Reconciliation of Change in Accrued Benefit Liability 

Accrued Benefit Liability – July 1  $817,819 $788,119 
Net expense for Fiscal Year 113,840 120,191 
Employer Contributions (139,957) (90,491) 
Accrued Benefit Liability – June 30 $791,702 $817,819 
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NOTE 8  EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 

 2023 2022 
Components of Net Benefit Expense 

Service Cost $73,241 $70,762 
Interest Cost 28,829 23,359 
Amortization of Net Actuarial Loss 11,770 26,071 
Net Benefit Expense $113,840 $120,191 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted for measuring the School District’s accrued benefit 
obligations are:  
 

Discount Rate – April 1 3.25% 2.50% 
Discount Rate – March 31 4.00% 3.25% 
Long Term Salary Growth – April 1 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
Long Term Salary Growth – March 31 2.50% + seniority 2.50% + seniority 
EARSL – March 31 
 

10.0 10.0 

 
 
NOTE 9 UNEARNED REVENUE 

 2023 2022 
Balance, beginning of year $472,429 $515,518 
Changes for the year:   
 Increase:   
        Tuition fees  361,732 455,892 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 9,762 16,537 
        
 371,494 472,429 

 Decrease:   
        Tuition fees  455,892 505,792 
        Rental/Lease of facilities 16,573 9,726 
 472,429 515,518 
        

Net changes for the year (100,935) (43,089) 
Balance, end of year $371,494 $472,429 
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NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 
  

 
Net Book Value: 

 
Net Book Value 

2023 
Net Book Value 

2022 

Sites $4,151,237 $4,151,237 
Buildings 40,536,749 40,350,559 
Furniture & Equipment 1,850,084 1,808,854 
Vehicles 474,989 415,650 
Computer Software 0 3,001 
Computer Hardware 103,036 144,954 
   
Total $47,116,095 $46,874,255 

 
June 30, 2023 

Cost Opening Cost 

 
Prior Period 
Adjustment Additions Disposals 

 
 Total 

2023 

Sites $4,151,237 $ $ $  $4,151,237 
Buildings 72,734,276  1,849,237 -  74,583,513 
Furniture & Equipment 2,646,402  306,587 292,253  2,660,736 
Vehicles 1,517,423  181,048 781,712  916,759 
Computer Software 30,013  - 30,013  0 
Computer Hardware 271,980  - 124,783  147,197 
       
Total Cost $81,351,331  $2,336,872 $1,228,761  $82,459,442 

 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization  

 
Prior Period 
Adjustment Additions Disposals 

Total  
 2023 

Sites $ $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 32,383,717  1,663,047 - 34,046,764 
Furniture & Equipment 837,548  265,357 292,253 810,652 
Vehicles 1,101,773  121,709 781,712 441,770 
Computer Software 27,012  3,001 30,013 - 
Computer Hardware 127,026  41,918 124,783 44,161 
      
Total Amortization $34,477,076  $2,095,032 $1,228,761 $35,343,347 
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NOTE 10 TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
 
June 30, 2022 

Cost Opening Cost 

Prior Period 
Adjustment 
(Note 20) Additions Disposals 

 
 Total 

 2022 

Sites $4,151,237 $ $ $  $4,151,237 
Buildings 69,879,612 1,394,540 1,460,124 -  72,734,276 
Furniture & Equipment 1,513,429  1,236,080 103,107  2,646,402 
Vehicles 1,579,437  21,332 83,346  1,517,423 
Computer Software 81,651  - 30,013  30,013 
Computer Hardware 137,996  147,198 13,214  271,980 
       
Total Cost $77,343,362 1,394,540 $2,864,734 $251,305  $81,351,331 

 
     

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Opening 
Accumulated 
Amortization  

 
Prior Period 

Adjustment 
(Note 20) Additions Disposals 

Total 
2022 

Sites $ $ $ $ $ 
Buildings 29,738,684 1,394,540 1,610,493 - 32,383,717 
Furniture & Equipment 732,663 - 207,992 103,107 837,548 
Vehicles 1,030,276 - 154,843 83,346 1,101,773 
Computer Software 67,484 - 11,166 51,638 27,012 
Computer Hardware 99,242 - 40,998 13,214 127,026 
      
Total Amortization $31,308,349 1,394,540 $2,025,492 $251,305 $34,477,076 

     
 

 

NOTE 11 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
Ongoing Legal Proceedings 
 
In the ordinary course of operations, the School District has legal proceedings brought against it and 
provision has been included in liabilities where appropriate. It is the opinion of management that 
final determination of these claims will not have a material effect on the financial position or 
operations of the School District. 
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NOTE 12  EMPLOYEE PENSION PLANS  
 

The School District and its employees contribute to the Teachers’ Pension Plan and Municipal Pension 

Plan (jointly trusteed pension plans). The boards of trustees for these plans, representing plan members 
and employers, are responsible for administering the pension plans, including investing assets and 

administering benefits. The plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension plans. Basic pension 

benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2022, the Teachers’ Pension Plan has about 51,000 

active members and approximately 41,000 retired members. As of December 31, 2022, the Municipal 

Pension Plan has about 240,000 active members, including approximately 30,000 from school districts.  

 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plans and 

adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member 

contribution rate to fund the plans. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age 

normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions 

sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plans. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded 
actuarial liability. 

 

The most recent actuarial valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Plan as at December 31, 2020, indicated a 

$1,548 million surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

 

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, indicated 

a $3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

 

The school district paid $2,790,881 for employer contributions to the plans for the year ended June 
30, 2023 (2022: $2,456,619) 

 
The next valuation for the Teachers’ Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2023. The next valuation 
for the Municipal Pension Plan will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025.  
 
Employers participating in the plans record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plans record accrued liabilities and accrued assets for each plan in aggregate, resulting in 
no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers 
participating in the plans. 
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NOTE 13 INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund transfers between the operating, special purpose and capital funds for the year ended June 
30, 2023, were zero. 
 
 
NOTE 14 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The School District is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia 
ministries, agencies, school districts, health authorities, colleges, universities, and crown 
corporations.  Transactions with these entities, unless disclosed separately, are considered to be in 
the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount. 
 
 
NOTE 15 ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE  

The operations of the School District are dependent on continued funding from the Ministry of 
Education and Child Care and various governmental agencies to carry out its programs.  These 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
 
NOTE 16 ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 
 

Legal liabilities exist for the removal and disposal of asbestos and other environmentally hazardous 
materials within some district owned buildings that will undergo major renovations or demolition in 
the future.  A reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation has been recognized using the 
modified retroactive approach as at July 1, 2022 (see Note 20 – Prior Period Adjustment – Change in 
Accounting Policy).  The obligation has been measured at current cost as the timing of future cash 
flows cannot be reasonably determined.  These costs have been capitalized as part of the assets’ 
carrying value and are amortized over the assets’ estimated useful lives. 

  
  
Asset Retirement Obligation, July 1, 2022 (see Note 20)  $1,394,540 

Settlements during the year        11,763         

Asset Retirement Obligation, closing balance $1,382,777 
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NOTE 17 BUDGET FIGURES 
 
Budget figures included in the financial statements were approved by the Board through the 
adoption of an amended annual budget on February 15, 2023.  The Board adopted a preliminary 
annual budget on June 22, 2022.  The amended budget is used for comparison purposes, as these are 
based on actual student enrollments.  The difference between the two budgets is as follows: 
 
 

      

   2023 2023  

      Amended Preliminary Difference 

Revenues     

 Provincial Grants    

  Ministry of Education 41,372,480 38,251,821 3,120,659 

  Other 
              

100,000   
                      

125,000   (25,000)   

      

 Tuition 874,182             864,000             10,182 

 Other Revenue 2,087,439 1,886,184 201,255 

 Rentals and Leases 125,900              115,900  10,000 

 Investment Income 
             

107,500  37,500 70,000 

 Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue          1,663,578  
        

1,663,578                      -  

 Total Revenue       46,331,079 42,943,983 
               

3,387,096  

Expenses     

 Instruction       38,369,569  35,764,731 2,604,838 

 District Administration 1,999,981  1,817,655 182,326 

 Operations and Maintenance 5,996,168  5,709,306 286,862 

 Transportation and Housing 
        

1,203,775  1,103,775 100,000 

                                              

 Total Expenses       47,569,493  44,395,467 3,174,026  

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 
       

(1,238,414) (1,451,484) 213,070 

Effects of change in Tangible Capital Assets    

 Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets       -  -        -        

 Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets        1,929,649  1,929,649 - 

 Total Effect of change in Tangible     

 Capital Assets       1,929,649  1,929,649 - 

(Increase) Decrease in Net Financial Assets    

(Debt)       691,235 478,165       213,070 
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NOTE 18 ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  

Internally Restricted (appropriated) by Board for:  2023 2022 
School & Program Based Resources: 
Technology Initiatives  
Library / Learning Commons Re-vitalization 
Achievement & Wellness Initiatives 
Indigenous Initiatives 
Committee Initiatives (e.g. SOGI etc) 
Child Youth Counselling (ICY) 
Strategic Planning Initiatives 
Future Capital Cost Share (Edgehill Addition) 
Teacher Mentorship 
Student Furniture & Equipment 
School Resources Carried Forward 
 

    
$      - 

- 
359,633 

- 
- 

179,310 
250,000 
100,000 
33,210 

- 
12,912 

 

   
$      264,000 

200,000 
684,356 
64,016 
30,000 

- 
- 
- 

39,448 
50,000 
35,815 

 
       

Subtotal Internally Restricted Operating Surplus    935,065    1,367,635 
    

Unrestricted Operating Surplus (Contingency) 
 
 

Local Capital: 
Replacement Fund for Artificial Playfield  
Equipment Replacement Fund  
Portables Classrooms 
Administration Building Upgrade 
Maintenance Facility Upgrade 
 
 
Investment In Capital Assets 
 

 979,178 
     1,914,243         

 
 

- 
155,305 
140,213 
241,677 

- 

537,195 
 

8,501,608 

1,797,320 
     3,164,955         

 
 

75,000 
186,353 
646,680 

- 
59,440 

967,473 
 

8,342,167 

Total Available for Future Operations  $10,953,046 $12,474,595 

 
 
 
NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
All significant financial assets, financial liabilities and equity instruments of the School District are 
either recognized or disclosed in the financial statements together with other information relevant 
for making a reasonable assessment of future cash flows, interest rate risk and credit risk. 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 Credit Risk 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the School District to concentrations of 
credit risk consist primarily of other receivables.  The maximum credit risk exposure 
is $347,045 (2022 - $200,505).   

 
The School District manages its credit risk by performing regular credit assessments 
of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts 
receivable. 

 
 Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the School District will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with financial liabilities. 
   
The School District manages liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and 
forecasted cash flows from operations and anticipated investing activities to ensure, 
as far as possible to always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the School District’s reputation. 

 
 Foreign Currency Risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  In seeking to 
manage the risks from foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the School District does 
not hold significant funds in U.S. dollars in order to reduce their risk against adverse 
movements in the foreign exchange rates. 

 
 Financial Asset Impairment 

At each year-end date, the School District is required to evaluate and record any 
other-than-temporary impairment of its financial assets, other than those classified as 
held for trading.  Accordingly, the School District has compared the carrying value of 
each of these financial assets to its fair value as at June 30, 2023.  No provision for 
impairment was recorded in the current year, as the fair value of all financial assets 
tested exceeded their carrying value. 

 
 Fair Values of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amount of cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these 
items. 
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NOTE 19 RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

 Risk Management Policy 
The School District, as part of its operations, has established objectives (i.e. hedging 
of risk exposures and avoidance of undue concentrations of risk) to mitigate credit 
risk as risk management objectives.  In seeking to meet these objectives, the School 
District follows a risk management policy approved by its Board of Trustees. 

 
 
 
NOTE 20 PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 
On July 1, 2022 the School District adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 3280 
Asset Retirement Obligations. This new standard addresses the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of legal obligations associated with the retirement of certain tangible 
capital assets such as asbestos removal in buildings that will undergo major renovation or demolition 
in the future (see Note 16). This standard was adopted using the modified retroactive approach.  
 
On July 1, 2022 the School District recognized an asset retirement obligation relating to several owned 
buildings that contain asbestos and other hazardous materials. The liability has been measured at 
current cost as the timing and amounts of future cash flows cannot be estimated. The associated costs 
have been reported as an increase to the carrying value of the associated tangible capital assets. 
Accumulated amortization has been recorded from the later of, the date of acquisition of the related 
asset or April 1, 1988 (effective date of the Hazardous Waste Regulation (April 1, 1988) – Part 6 – 
Management of Specific Hazardous Wastes). 
 
The impact of the prior period adjustment on the June 30, 2022 comparative amounts is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
NOTE 21 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 
Certain prior year comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year financial 
statement presentation.  

 Increase (Decrease) 

  
Asset Retirement Obligation (liability) $ 1,394,540 
Tangible Capital Assets – cost    1,394,540 
Tangible Capital Assets – accumulated amortization    1,394,540 
Operations & Maintenance Expense – Asset amortization (2022)                  0 
Accumulated Surplus – Invested in Capital Assets   (1,394,540) 
  



Schedule 1 (Unaudited)

2023 2022

Operating Special Purpose Capital Actual Actual

Fund Fund Fund (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $ $ $

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 3,164,955            9,309,640            12,474,595          13,223,317          

Prior Period Adjustments (1,394,540)           

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year, as restated 3,164,955            -                           9,309,640            12,474,595          11,828,777          

Changes for the year

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (1,250,712)           (270,837)              (1,521,549)           645,818               

Net Changes for the year (1,250,712)           -                           (270,837)              (1,521,549)           645,818               

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), end of year - Statement 2 1,914,243            -                           9,038,803            10,953,046          12,474,595          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) by Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Version: 5977-5231-3249

 September 20, 2023  14:58 Page 30



Schedule 2 (Unaudited)

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education and Child Care 36,074,548        37,265,237        33,948,066        

Other 100,000             115,554             145,872             

Tuition 874,182             887,702             1,192,761          

Other Revenue 1,212,439          1,509,089          1,421,794          

Rentals and Leases 125,900             176,367             143,648             

Investment Income 100,000             207,361             49,191               

Total Revenue 38,487,069        40,161,310        36,901,332        

Expenses

Instruction 32,475,807        33,415,546        29,106,537        

District Administration 1,843,764          1,856,275          1,548,727          

Operations and Maintenance 4,097,342          4,850,140          4,257,883          

Transportation and Housing 1,049,999          1,290,061          1,033,268          

Total Expense 39,466,912        41,412,022        35,946,415        

Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the year (979,843)            (1,250,712)         954,917             

Budgeted Appropriation (Retirement) of Surplus (Deficit) 979,843             

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital (500,000)            

Total Net Transfers -                        -                        (500,000)            

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), for the year -                        (1,250,712)         454,917             

Operating Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 3,164,955          2,710,038          

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 1,914,243          3,164,955          

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year

Internally Restricted (Note 18) 935,065             1,367,635          

Unrestricted 979,178             1,797,320          

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 1,914,243          3,164,955          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Version: 5977-5231-3249

 September 20, 2023  14:58 Page 31



Schedule 2A (Unaudited)

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care

Operating Grant, Ministry of Education and Child Care 35,675,455        36,292,353        34,485,481        

ISC/LEA Recovery (974,724)            (1,032,389)         (974,724)            

Other Ministry of Education and Child Care Grants

Pay Equity 243,304             243,304             243,304             

Funding for Graduated Adults 6,601                 7,860                 

Student Transportation Fund 91,754               91,754               91,754               

FSA Scorer Grant 3,753                 7,506                 7,506                 

Early Learning Framework (ELF) Implementation 466                    466                    1,885                 

Labour Settlement Funding 955,540             1,394,951          

Equity Scan 79,000               81,381               79,000               

ICY Clinical Counsellor Funding 179,310             

District Capacity Building - Early Learning 6,000                 

Total Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care 36,074,548        37,265,237        33,948,066        

Provincial Grants - Other 100,000             115,554             145,872             

Tuition

Summer School Fees 10,182               10,582               

International and Out of Province Students 864,000             877,120             1,192,761          

Total Tuition 874,182             887,702             1,192,761          

Other Revenues

Other School District/Education Authorities 120,009             120,009             129,477             

Funding from First Nations 974,724             1,032,389          974,724             

Miscellaneous

Misc. Billings & Recoveries 50,000               81,520               115,220             

Purchase Card Rebate 17,000               21,898               17,595               

Tla'amin Service Contract 50,706               37,920               

Art Starts Grant 9,914                 8,343                 

Cafeteria Revenue 132,534             128,395             

PAC Contributions 10,000               48,040               

Before & After School Care 62,905               

Total Other Revenue 1,212,439          1,509,089          1,421,794          

Rentals and Leases 125,900             176,367             143,648             

Investment Income 100,000             207,361             49,191               

Total Operating Revenue 38,487,069        40,161,310        36,901,332        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 2B (Unaudited)

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Salaries

Teachers 13,614,483        13,464,576        12,122,027        

Principals and Vice Principals 2,384,399          2,607,118          2,019,687          

Educational Assistants 2,712,723          2,537,629          2,065,719          

Support Staff 2,911,252          3,181,765          2,738,334          

Other Professionals 2,084,800          1,552,055          1,576,031          

Substitutes 1,486,705          1,656,046          1,226,938          

Total Salaries 25,194,362        24,999,189        21,748,736        

Employee Benefits 5,653,627          5,762,871          4,833,000          

Total Salaries and Benefits 30,847,989        30,762,060        26,581,736        

Services and Supplies

Services 3,792,640          5,194,246          4,395,505          

Student Transportation 7,700                 4,195                 6,531                 

Professional Development and Travel 290,551             339,474             299,847             

Rentals and Leases 298,329             258,877             270,961             

Dues and Fees 379,383             421,730             515,358             

Insurance 105,000             103,239             82,281               

Supplies 3,040,820          3,656,060          2,978,752          

Utilities 704,500             672,141             815,444             

Total Services and Supplies 8,618,923          10,649,962        9,364,679          

Total Operating Expense 39,466,912        41,412,022        35,946,415        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Operating Expense by Object

Version: 5977-5231-3249
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

Principals and Educational Support Other

Teachers Vice Principals Assistants Staff Professionals Substitutes Total

Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction 10,972,839          137,894               277,004               319,009               1,246,045            12,952,791          

1.03 Career Programs 65,971                 59,199                 29,500                 154,670               

1.07 Library Services 122,464               8,397                   130,861               

1.08 Counselling 326,247               65,432                 391,679               

1.10 Special Education 1,441,020            218,782               2,537,629            14,624                 375,064               145,857               4,732,976            

1.30 English Language Learning 12,406                 12,406                 

1.31 Indigenous Education 370,309               135,193               33,347                 4,368                   5,748                   548,965               

1.41 School Administration 1,645,334            716,878               31,533                 2,393,745            

1.60 Summer School 71,611                 71,611                 

1.61 Continuing Education 84,500                 84,500                 

1.62 International and Out of Province Students 68,820                 64,805                 61,851                 627                      196,103               

Total Function 1 13,464,576          2,326,639            2,537,629            1,071,353            760,292               1,509,818            21,670,307          

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration 280,479               236,335               516,814               

4.40 School District Governance 84,365                 84,365                 

4.41 Business Administration 191,333               378,376               569,709               

Total Function 4 -                          280,479               -                          191,333               699,076               -                          1,170,888            

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration 18,713                 24,669                 43,382                 

5.50 Maintenance Operations 1,226,191            54,735                 97,836                 1,378,762            

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds 83,068                 83,068                 

5.56 Utilities -                          

Total Function 5 -                          -                          -                          1,327,972            79,404                 97,836                 1,505,212            

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration 21,685                 13,283                 34,968                 

7.70 Student Transportation 569,422               48,392                 617,814               

Total Function 7 -                          -                          -                          591,107               13,283                 48,392                 652,782               

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total Functions 1 - 9 13,464,576          2,607,118            2,537,629            3,181,765            1,552,055            1,656,046            24,999,189          

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction

1.03 Career Programs

1.07 Library Services

1.08 Counselling

1.10 Special Education

1.30 English Language Learning

1.31 Indigenous Education

1.41 School Administration

1.60 Summer School

1.61 Continuing Education

1.62 International and Out of Province Students

Total Function 1

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration

4.40 School District Governance

4.41 Business Administration

Total Function 4

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration

5.50 Maintenance Operations

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds

5.56 Utilities

Total Function 5

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration

7.70 Student Transportation

Total Function 7

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9

Total Functions 1 - 9

Year Ended June 30, 2023

2023 2023 2022

Total Employee Total Salaries Services and Actual Budget Actual

Salaries Benefits and Benefits Supplies (Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

12,952,791          3,049,026            16,001,817          3,332,830            19,334,647          18,717,393          17,003,573          

154,670               38,261                 192,931               9,066                   201,997               194,130               168,792               

130,861               31,569                 162,430               78,943                 241,373               226,737               163,062               

391,679               81,666                 473,345               804                      474,149               433,460               454,609               

4,732,976            1,145,913            5,878,889            2,469,481            8,348,370            7,935,008            7,145,763            

12,406                 2,964                   15,370                 2,094                   17,464                 23,456                 16,634                 

548,965               122,799               671,764               82,284                 754,048               790,476               395,687               

2,393,745            508,815               2,902,560            132,010               3,034,570            3,111,932            2,649,694            

71,611                 9,131                   80,742                 19,888                 100,630               97,500                 75,606                 

84,500                 20,280                 104,780               2,500                   107,280               104,780               117,187               

196,103               47,121                 243,224               557,794               801,018               840,935               915,930               

21,670,307          5,057,545            26,727,852          6,687,694            33,415,546          32,475,807          29,106,537          

516,814               111,764               628,578               97,925                 726,503               765,054               692,733               

84,365                 5,142                   89,507                 118,784               208,291               164,500               164,205               

569,709               133,142               702,851               218,630               921,481               914,210               691,789               

1,170,888            250,048               1,420,936            435,339               1,856,275            1,843,764            1,548,727            

43,382                 10,220                 53,602                 116,950               170,552               243,789               152,981               

1,378,762            273,121               1,651,883            1,839,087            3,490,970            2,932,744            3,009,464            

83,068                 18,739                 101,807               409,875               511,682               216,309               273,896               

-                          -                          676,936               676,936               704,500               821,542               

1,505,212            302,080               1,807,292            3,042,848            4,850,140            4,097,342            4,257,883            

34,968                 8,573                   43,541                 4,574                   48,115                 73,215                 67,024                 

617,814               144,625               762,439               479,507               1,241,946            976,784               966,244               

652,782               153,198               805,980               484,081               1,290,061            1,049,999            1,033,268            

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

24,999,189          5,762,871            30,762,060          10,649,962          41,412,022          39,466,912          35,946,415          
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Schedule 3 (Unaudited)

2023 2023 2022

Budget Actual Actual

(Note 17) (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $

Revenues

Provincial Grants

Ministry of Education and Child Care 5,297,932          5,450,472          4,441,945          

Other Revenue 875,000             2,174,977          1,017,033          

Total Revenue 6,172,932          7,625,449          5,458,978          

Expenses

Instruction 5,893,762          7,320,953          5,239,696          

District Administration 156,217             98,342               98,945               

Operations and Maintenance 122,953             206,154             120,337             

Total Expense 6,172,932          7,625,449          5,458,978          

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Total Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), end of year -                        -                        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Special Purpose Operations
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Annual Learning Scholarships School Ready, Classroom

Facility Improvement and Generated Strong Set, Enhancement

Grant Fund Bursaries Funds Start Learn OLEP CommunityLINK Fund - Overhead

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year 213,021              330,932              11,376                10,782                  

District Entered 9                           

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year, as restated -                          -                          213,021              330,932              11,376                -                          -                        10,791                  -                          

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care 122,953              122,425              128,000              14,700                216,053            214,916                124,939              

Other 300,070              1,872,385           

122,953              122,425              300,070              1,872,385           128,000              14,700                216,053            214,916                124,939              

Less: Allocated to Revenue 122,953              122,425              449,251              1,725,726           139,376              14,700                215,255            217,972                124,939              

Deferred Revenue, end of year -                          -                          63,840                477,591              -                          -                          798                   7,735                    -                          

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care 122,953              122,425              139,376              14,700                215,255            217,972                124,939              

Other Revenue 449,251              1,725,726           

122,953              122,425              449,251              1,725,726           139,376              14,700                215,255            217,972                124,939              

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers 125,134            

Principals and Vice Principals

Educational Assistants 109,308              103,304              37,138              

Support Staff 168,875                45,244                

Other Professionals 6,696                    

Substitutes 5,182                  12,565                  67,320                

-                          109,308              -                          -                          103,304              5,182                  162,272            188,136                112,564              

Employee Benefits 13,117                24,034                518                     28,781              18,228                  3,018                  

Services and Supplies 122,953              449,251              1,725,726           12,038                9,000                  24,202              11,608                  9,357                  

122,953              122,425              449,251              1,725,726           139,376              14,700                215,255            217,972                124,939              

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Interfund Transfers

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Net Revenue (Expense) -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year

District Entered

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year, as restated

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care

Other

Less: Allocated to Revenue

Deferred Revenue, end of year

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care

Other Revenue

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers

Principals and Vice Principals

Educational Assistants

Support Staff

Other Professionals

Substitutes

Employee Benefits

Services and Supplies

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers

Interfund Transfers

Net Revenue (Expense)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Federal Safe

Classroom Classroom Mental Changing Return to Seamless Student & SEY2KT

Enhancement Enhancement Health Results for Class / Day Family JUST (Early Years to

Fund - Staffing Fund - Remedies in Schools Young Children Ventilation Fund Kindergarten Affordability B4 Kindergarten)

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

50,000                

-                          -                          -                          -                          50,000                -                          -                          -                          -                          

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  55,400                343,568              25,000                19,000                

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  -                          55,400                343,568              25,000                19,000                

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  50,000                55,400                290,757              25,000                19,000                

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          52,811                -                          -                          

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  50,000                55,400                290,757              25,000                19,000                

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  50,000                55,400                290,757              25,000                19,000                

1,512,921           259,718              29,600                

59,032                

42,661                18,548                

7,500                  5,455                  14,545                

1,512,921           318,750              37,100                5,455                  -                          42,661                -                          18,548                14,545                

347,989              57,832                5,900                  545                     10,239                4,452                  1,455                  

12,000                50,000                2,500                  290,757              2,000                  3,000                  

1,860,910           376,582              55,000                6,000                  50,000                55,400                290,757              25,000                19,000                

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year

District Entered

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year, as restated

Add: Restricted Grants

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care

Other

Less: Allocated to Revenue

Deferred Revenue, end of year

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care

Other Revenue

Expenses

Salaries

Teachers

Principals and Vice Principals

Educational Assistants

Support Staff

Other Professionals

Substitutes

Employee Benefits

Services and Supplies

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers

Interfund Transfers

Net Revenue (Expense)

Year Ended June 30, 2023

ECL Auditory 

(Early Care Outreach

& Learning) Program TOTAL

$ $ $

216,593              832,704              

9                         

-                          216,593              832,713              

175,000              1,362,610           5,223,056           

2,172,455           

175,000              1,362,610           7,395,511           

175,000              1,579,203           7,625,449           

-                          -                          602,775              

175,000              1,579,203           5,450,472           

2,174,977           

175,000              1,579,203           7,625,449           

19,844                1,947,217           

124,167              124,167              

308,782              

17,500                77,789                370,617              

324,317              331,013              

112,567              

141,667              421,950              3,194,363           

28,333                71,109                615,550              

5,000                  1,086,144           3,815,536           

175,000              1,579,203           7,625,449           

-                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 4 (Unaudited)

2023 2022

Budget Invested in Tangible Local Fund Actual

(Note 17) Capital Assets Capital Balance (Restated - Note 20)

$ $ $ $ $

Revenues

Investment Income 7,500             69,120           69,120           4,200                

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,663,578      1,755,075                   1,755,075      1,712,193         

Total Revenue 1,671,078      1,755,075                   69,120           1,824,195      1,716,393         

Expenses

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets

Operations and Maintenance 1,775,873      1,973,323                   1,973,323      1,870,649         

Transportation and Housing 153,776         121,709                      121,709         154,843            

Total Expense 1,929,649      2,095,032                   -                    2,095,032      2,025,492         

Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (258,571)        (339,957)                     69,120           (270,837)        (309,099)           

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Local Capital -                    500,000            

Total Net Transfers -                    -                                 -                    -                    500,000            

Other Adjustments to Fund Balances

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased from Local Capital 487,635                      (487,635)        -                    

Settlement of Asset Retirement Obligation 11,763                        (11,763)         -                    

Total Other Adjustments to Fund Balances 499,398                      (499,398)        -                    

Total Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (258,571)        159,441                      (430,278)        (270,837)        190,901            

Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 8,342,167                   967,473         9,309,640      10,513,279       

Prior Period Adjustments

To Recognize Asset Retirement Obligation (1,394,540)        

Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year, as restated 8,342,167                   967,473         9,309,640      9,118,739         

Capital Surplus (Deficit), end of year 8,501,608                   537,195         9,038,803      9,309,640         

2023 Actual

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Capital Operations

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 4A (Unaudited)

Furniture and Computer Computer

Sites Buildings Equipment Vehicles Software Hardware Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost, beginning of year 4,151,237           72,734,276          2,646,402           1,517,423           30,013                271,980              81,351,331          

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Purchases from:

Deferred Capital Revenue - Bylaw 1,691,690           1,691,690           

Deferred Capital Revenue - Other 157,547              157,547              

Local Capital 306,587              181,048              487,635              

-                          1,849,237           306,587              181,048              -                          -                          2,336,872           

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 292,253              781,712              30,013                124,783              1,228,761           

-                          -                          292,253              781,712              30,013                124,783              1,228,761           

Cost, end of year 4,151,237           74,583,513          2,660,736           916,759              -                          147,197              82,459,442          

Work in Progress, end of year -                          

Cost and Work in Progress, end of year 4,151,237           74,583,513          2,660,736           916,759              -                          147,197              82,459,442          

Accumulated Amortization, beginning of year 32,383,717          837,548              1,101,773           27,012                127,026              34,477,076          

Changes for the Year

Increase:  Amortization for the Year 1,663,047           265,357              121,709              3,001                  41,918                2,095,032           

Decrease:

Deemed Disposals 292,253              781,712              30,013                124,783              1,228,761           

-                          292,253              781,712              30,013                124,783              1,228,761           

Accumulated Amortization, end of year 34,046,764          810,652              441,770              -                          44,161                35,343,347          

Tangible Capital Assets - Net 4,151,237           40,536,749          1,850,084           474,989              -                          103,036              47,116,095          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Tangible Capital Assets

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 4C (Unaudited)

Bylaw Other Other Total

Capital Provincial Capital Capital

$ $ $ $

Deferred Capital Revenue, beginning of year 33,960,701        2,180,538          996,309             37,137,548        

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Capital Additions 1,691,690          157,547             1,849,237          

1,691,690          157,547             -                        1,849,237          

Decrease:

Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,601,659          90,488               62,928               1,755,075          

1,601,659          90,488               62,928               1,755,075          

Net Changes for the Year 90,031               67,059               (62,928)              94,162               

Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,050,732        2,247,597          933,381             37,231,710        

Work in Progress, beginning of year -                        

Changes for the Year

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Work in Progress, end of year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,050,732        2,247,597          933,381             37,231,710        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Schedule 4D (Unaudited)

MECC Other

Bylaw Restricted Provincial Land Other

Capital Capital Capital Capital Capital Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year 888,000             888,000             

Changes for the Year

Increase:

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education and Child Care 1,691,690          1,691,690          

1,691,690          -                        -                        -                        -                        1,691,690          

Decrease:

Transferred to DCR - Capital Additions 1,691,690          157,547             1,849,237          

1,691,690          -                        157,547             -                        -                        1,849,237          

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        (157,547)            -                        -                        (157,547)            

Balance, end of year -                        -                        730,453             -                        -                        730,453             

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Unspent Deferred Capital Revenue

Year Ended June 30, 2023
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School District 
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 

 
qathet School District 

 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
 

SCHEDULE OF DEBT 
 
 

Information on all long term debt is included in the school district audited financial statements and notes. 
 
 
 

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



School District 
Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 

 
qathet School District 

 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 

 
 

SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS 
 
 

The qathet school District has not given any guarantee or indemnity under the Guarantees and Indemnities 
Regulation. 
 
 

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
School District 

Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
 

qathet School District 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 
 

STATEMENT OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS 
 
 

There were no severance agreements made between the qathet School District and its non-unionized 
employees during fiscal year 2023. 
 
 

Prepared as required by Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7) 
 



Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses

A.  LIST OF ELECTED OFFICIALS

NAME POSITION REMUNERATION EXPENSES

BEHAN, BRENDAN TRUSTEE $5,802 $0
HILL, ROBERT TRUSTEE $17,718 $1,963
LAWSON, DALE CHAIRPERSON $20,902 $2,277
MASON, MAUREEN TRUSTEE $11,916 $1,670
MILLER, JACLYN VICE-CHAIRPERSON $19,310 $1,967
SKINNER, DOUG TRUSTEE $6,844 $0
VAN'T SCHIP, KIRSTEN TRUSTEE $11,916 $1,682

TOTAL FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS $94,408 $9,559

A.  LIST OF EMPLOYEES WHOSE REMUNERATION EXCEEDS $75,000

NAME POSITION REMUNERATION EXPENSES

ADAM, JESSICA TEACHER $99,232 $0
ADAMS, WENDY TEACHER $101,517 $963
ANDERSON, GERALD TEACHER $101,465 $0
ANDERSON, MARIA TEACHER $92,162 $0
ARMSTRONG, TREVOR TEACHER $88,838 $0
BAKER, LISA TEACHER $97,995 $0
BAKER-PLAIZIER, LORA SPEECH PATHOLOGIST $89,662 $3,509

BAKKER, NATASHA TEACHER $96,387 $79
BALL, STEPHEN TEACHER $81,603 $693
BALZER, COLLEEN TEACHER $99,165 $0
BANKS, HEATHER TEACHER $101,517 $0
BARFOOT, SEAN TEACHER $81,256 $0
BEHAN, SHANNON ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $134,744 $4,309
BELLA, ALEXANDRA ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $89,522 $3,097
BENNETT, DARREN TEACHER $100,037 $0

BIASUTTI, BRYCE TEACHER $88,117 $0
BRACH, GERALD TEACHER $101,464 $0
BRACH, KRISTEN DIRECTOR OF INSTRUCTION $149,624 $14,089
BRANDER, JENNIFER TEACHER $84,487 $0
BRATSETH, CHRISTOPHER TEACHER $101,556 $0
BRENNAN, CAROLINE ELEMENTARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $106,982 $1,830
BRYANT, RACHEL TEACHER $101,517 $0
BURDETT, ALIX TEACHER $75,801 $0

BURNETT, NICOLE TEACHER $101,954 $0
BURNIKELL, MARANDA TEACHER $99,267 $0
BURT, ALLISON DIRECTOR OF INSTRUCTION $149,624 $11,315
BURT, JAMIE ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $140,330 $3,795
CALDARONE, DIANA TEACHER $83,684 $0
CARSON, SHELLY TEACHER $99,164 $0
CARSON, ROY H TEACHER $101,464 $0
CAVERLY, DAVID TEACHER $77,750 $0

CHEVALIER, LINE TEACHER $92,626 $0
CHRISTMANN, SAMANTHA TEACHER $89,896 $0
CLARK, BRENDAN TEACHER $101,566 $0
CLARKE, KELLEY TEACHER $92,705 $0
CRISTANTE. ANNA ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT $78,435 $28
CROOKSHANK, KRISTINA TEACHER $101,517 $0
CUMMINGS, PAUL TEACHER $101,464 $2,175
DEGROOT, JOSHUA TEACHER $77,092 $0

DENDEWICZ, JODY TEACHER $105,180 $0
DOUGLAS, KATRINA TEACHER $93,794 $0
DOYLE, DANIEL TEACHER $99,398 $3,439
DOYLE, MICHELLE SECONDARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $123,109 $2,425
DUNLOP, WILLOW TEACHER $91,462 $0
DYCK, JONATHAN TEACHER $107,563 $0
EDWARDS, ELIAS TEACHER $79,175 $0
ELLIOTT, DEREK TEACHER $99,165 $0
ELLIS, PAM TEACHER $102,273 $0

ERVINGTON, GABRIEL TEACHER $92,252 $0
FAIRBAIRN, DON ONLINE LEARNING PRINCIPAL $91,421 $317
FELDE, CARA TEACHER $84,134 $0
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FILEWICH, JENNA TEACHER $84,600 $0
GAHAN, LEANNE TEACHER $101,566 $0
GALLAGHER, KELLY TEACHER $90,688 $0
GAUDREAU, TAWNIE DIRECTOR OF STUDENT SERVICES $149,395 $8,224
GORDON, COREY TEACHER $85,172 $0

GOSSELIN, MELANIE AUDITORY PROGRAM  MANAGER $79,433 $0
GURNEY, SAFRON TEACHER $86,747 $0
HALL, STEPHANIE ONLINE LEARNING PRINCIPAL $135,218 $12,145
HANSON, JAMES TEACHER $105,125 $1,282
HARRIS, ROBERT TRADESWORKER $76,663 $0
HART, TONI TEACHER $101,522 $0
HAWKINS, MELISSA TEACHER $101,566 $0
HERMANEK, HANA TEACHER $79,078 $0

HERRINGTON, SUSANNE TEACHER $92,708 $0
HEUCKROTH, KRIS TEACHER $96,287 $0
HEWLETT, NANCY TEACHER $107,619 $0
HILDEBRAND, BROOKE TEACHER $97,205 $0
HILLEREN, MICHAEL SECONDARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $122,573 $2,492
HODGINS, ERIN TEACHER $86,109 $0
HOEHN, PATRICIA TEACHER $77,382 $0
HOEKSTRA, CAROLINE TEACHER $104,264 $0

HOPKINS, STEVEN SECRETARY TREASURER $173,909 $8,339
HUGHES, AARON MAINTENANCE FOREPERSON $82,939 $0
HUGHES, CODY TRADESPERSON $75,070 $0
HULL, ASHLEY TEACHER $75,820 $0
HULL, MATHEW ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $132,034 $4,442
IRWIN, WESLEY TEACHER $102,670 $1,066
JOHNSON, JESSICA DISTRICT PRINCIPAL $132,823 $8,864
KEANE, STEPHANIE SPEECH PATHOLOGIST $100,976 $4,155
KENNEDY, JENNIFER ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $132,034 $2,781

KNICKERBOCKER, CONNOR TEACHER $76,594 $0
KOOP, JESSICA TEACHER $82,954 $0
LACEY, SARAH TEACHER $99,267 $0
LANDRY, MANON TEACHER $99,169 $0
LANDY, IAN DISTRICT PRINCIPAL $140,330 $6,759
LARKIN, TANYA SECONDARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $124,796 $5,572
LEACH, KIM TEACHER $75,411 $0
LEIGH, COURTENAY ELEMENTARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $109,945 $2,147

LITTLE, DENISE TEACHER $101,465 $0
LOVELUCK, ISABEL TEACHER $104,284 $0
MACK, JAMES TEACHER $79,991 $218
MALIN, SCOTT TEACHER $104,338 $0
MALONEY, LAURA TEACHER $89,567 $0
MARSHMAN, JASMIN SECONDARY PRINCIPAL $143,776 $3,205
MASTRODONATO, JODI TEACHER $94,444 $0
MAXWELL, ELAINE TEACHER $102,448 $793

MCCOWAN, LESLIE TEACHER $99,167 $0
MCKENDRICK, IAN TEACHER $99,215 $0
MCKINTY, JACQUELINE TEACHER $102,041 $599
MCSWEEN, MONICA TEACHER $99,533 $0
MENDOZA, JERALD TEACHER $86,672 $0
MIKKELSEN, REBEKA-LYNNE TEACHER $81,086 $0
MILLER, CAMERON TEACHER $105,162 $0
MOLENAAR, ANITA TEACHER $97,494 $1,132

MOORE, REED TEACHER $84,886 $0
MORRISEY, JEREMY TRADES FOREPERSON $80,777 $684
MORRISSEY, MEGAN TEACHER $76,119 $0
MURRAY, TAMI TEACHER $83,182 $0
NG, MILLY SCHOOL PSYCHOLOGIST $101,006 $1,156
NOSEK AMY TEACHER $101,517 $0
PAQUETTE, MAXIME TEACHER $89,445 $0
PARSONS, AMY TEACHER $76,454 $0
PAYNE, KRISTY DIRECTOR OF COMMUNICATIONS $113,613 $476

PENDAK, ROBYN TEACHER $76,590 $644
PETERS, KARINA TEACHER $86,529 $0
PLAZIER, BRETT DIRECTOR OF HUMAN RESOURCES $96,804 $600
PRITCHARD, KRISTOPHER TEACHER $92,086 $0
RAE, JASON TEACHER $94,029 $0
RAINBOW, RAUN ELEMENTARY VICE-PRINCIPAL $112,738 $3,590
RICE, ANTHONY TEACHER $96,338 $0
RIVEST, MEGAN TEACHER $83,435 $0

ROUNIS, BILL ELEMENTARY PRINCIPAL $144,303 $4,891
SAUGSTAD, ALLAN ONLINE LEARNING PRINCIPAL $144,081 $8,427
SCOVILLE, ROBYN TEACHER $99,267 $0



SHIPLEY, MICHELLE TEACHER $90,357 $0
SHOSTAK, ANDREW TEACHER $94,383 $0
SHOSTAK, SARAH TEACHER $92,024 $186
SIU, CARRIE AUDIOLOGIST $80,865 $1,844
SKRODOLIS, CARLA TEACHER $78,731 $871

STEVENS, NICOLE TEACHER $82,682 $0
SULLIVAN, CHRISTY TEACHER $99,272 $0
SYTNICK, TREVOR TEACHER $92,756 $0
TAYLOR, LISA TEACHER $105,179 $795
THORSELL, DEAN TEACHER $90,508 $0
TIMOTHY, KIM TEACHER $101,522 $0
TRAER, LISA TEACHER $95,255 $0
VAN ACHTE, LINDSAY TEACHER $96,389 $170

VERAN, CLAUDINE TEACHER $101,517 $0
WATSON, KERRY TEACHER $99,258 $0
WEBB, MARNIE TEACHER $81,598 $109
WEBB, ROBERT TEACHER $81,626 $0
WIGHTMAN, SYDNEY TEACHER $93,427 $0
WILLIAMS, JOCELYN TEACHER $101,517 $0
WYATT, CAROL TEACHER $106,681 $0
YOUNG, ANGELA TEACHER $101,532 $0

YOUNG, CHRISTOPHER FACILITY MANAGER $84,203 $0
YULE, JAY A. SUPERINTENDENT $192,758 $9,708

TOTAL FOR EMPLOYEES
WHOSE REMUNERATION EXCEEDS $75,000.00 $14,667,697 $160,429

B.  REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES PAID $75,000 OR LESS

Total remuneration paid to employees where the amount
paid to each employee was $75,000.00 or less: $13,688,642 $45,163

C.  REMUNERATION TO ELECTED OFFICIALS $94,408 $9,559

D.  EMPLOYER PORTION OF U.I.C. AND C.P.P.

The employer portion of Unemployment Insurance and
Canada Pension Plan paid to the Receiver General of Canada: $1,721,895

CONSOLIDATED TOTALS $30,172,642 $215,151
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Schedule of Payment for the Provision of Goods and Services

A.  LIST OF SUPPLIERS WHERE PAYMENTS EXCEED $25,000

SUPPLIER NAME EXPENDITURE

AARON SERVICE & SUPPLY $156,939
AERO POWELL RIVER SERVICES LTD $65,572
AMAZON CHANNELS $36,295
AMAZON.CA $79,455
AMZ $61,669
APPLE CANADA INC $92,700
ASSURED ASBESTOS ABATEMENT LTD $113,079
AURORA CASCADE ENTERPRISES LTD $329,705
BC HYDRO $296,530
BC SCHOOL TRUSTEES ASSOCIATION $38,505
BC TEACHERS FEDERATION $614,115
BRAINBOOST EDUCATION $28,150
CDW CANADA $43,758
CENTAUR PRODUCTS INC $33,544
CITY OF POWELL RIVER $117,810
COLLEEN ALBERTSON $31,300
COLUMBIA FUELS $139,482
CONCEPT INTERACTIVE INC $111,810
CUMMINS CANADA LLC $63,954
CUPE LOCAL 476 $179,591
CUSTOM FLOORING CENTRES LTD $55,219
DELL CANADA INC $348,993
DESJARDINS FINANCIAL SECURITY $73,262
DIANA TOMADA $29,000
DRAGONFLY MECHANICAL & GAS $25,818
DYNAMIC SPECIALTY VEHCILES LTD $90,078
EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX - EHT $395,771
FALCON ELECTRIC LTD $525,524
FIEDLER INSPIRATIONS $31,941
FLATLINE CONCRETE FINISHING $37,902
FOOTHOLDS THERAPY CENTER $66,876
FORT, GARY $34,125
FORTIS BC $141,553
FRESH AIR LEARNING SOCIETY $55,429
GRAND & TOY $38,424
HOLM, LORELEI $27,896
IBM CANADA LTD $79,432
INGLIS PROFESSIONAL TUTORING $62,387
JANT CONSTRUCTION $46,244
JEREMY SAMPLE B.SC.BI $31,125
JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE $97,464
KEY ALARM MONITORING SERVICE $32,734
KOLESZAR PROPERTIES LTD $59,850
LAYCRETE CONCRETE $79,300
MADRONA FINE HOMES $111,982
MANULIFE FINANCIAL $40,324
MASSULLO MOTORS LIMITED $86,020
MCCANN, BRENDAN $39,035
MCNALLY, DEX $25,110
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MINDFUL HIKES COMOX VALLEY $33,339
MINISTER OF FINANCE (MSP) $34,350
MEYERS NORRIS PENNY $51,818
MODERN ALUMINUM & VINYL PRODUCTS $95,762
MODERN SYSTEMS MANAGEMENT $118,248
MORNEAU SHEPELL $636,925
NELSON ROOFING & SHEET METAL LTD $418,313
ORCA EDUCATION SERVICES $360,201
OTICON CANADA $55,918
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS $225,869
PENSION CORPORATION - MUNICIPAL $1,177,923
PENSION CORPORATION - TEACHERS $4,222,932
PETE'S PLUMBING & HEATING LTD $118,786
PHONAK LTD $964,838
POTTER, JESSICA $32,401
POWELL RIVER CHILD, YOUTH & FAMILY SERVICES $72,260
POWELL RIVER DIGITAL FILM SCHOOL $66,071
POWELL RIVER DISTRICT TEACHERS ASSOCIATION $109,551
POWELL RIVER EQUIPMENT RENTALS $200,282
POWERSCHOOL CANADA $46,673
PUBLIC EDUCATION BENEFITS TRUST $320,712
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA $7,397,899
RFS CANADA $38,300
RICHO CANADA INC $78,315
RIVERCITY MINI EXCAVATING $596,551
RONA BUILDING CENTRE $96,116
RUSSELL HENDRIX FOOD SERVICE $126,914
SAVE ON FOODS $67,725
SHOREFRONT PLUMBING $32,480
SMARTS $37,550
SMCN CONSULTING INC $129,150
SOS TUTORING $135,959
SOUTHLANDS FARM $25,873
SQUAMISH NATURE LEARNERS $31,050
STAPLES POWELL  RIVER $53,550
STRATHCONA TREE CARE $33,569
STROM, CHRISTOPHER $32,760
SUNSHINE COAST FUELS LTD. $117,259
SUNSHINE DISPOSAL & RECYCLING $58,289
SUPERIOR PROPANE INC $127,833
SYSCO FOODS $155,286
TEACHER FILE $52,170
TELUS $26,012
TELUS MOBILITY $43,947
TERRACENTRIC COASTAL ADVENTURES $164,500
THRIVING ROOTS WILDERNESS SCHOOL $34,987
ULINE CANADA CORPORATION $32,015
UNINEXUS INC $40,446
UNITED LIBRARY SERVICES $69,644
VALLEY BUILDING SUPPLIES $130,463
VANCOUVER DISCOVERY HOME LEARN $27,025
VANCOUVER ISLAND UNIVERSITY $125,957
WESTVIEW FORD SALES LTD $98,915
WHOLE PHONICS $26,789
WORKERS COMPENSATION BOARD $276,517
X10 NETWORKS $162,703
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TOTAL FOR SUPPLIERS WHERE PAYMENTS EXCEED $25,000 $25,450,471

B.  SUPPLIERS PAID $25,000 OR LESS

Total amount paid to suppliers where the amount
paid to each supplier was $25,000 or less: $5,652,872

CONSOLIDATED TOTAL $31,103,343
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EXPLANATORY NOTES 
 

 
For the Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses, reconciling items for remuneration include the 
following: 
 

 The audited financial statements are prepared on a modified accrual basis, where as the 
remuneration and expenses included in the SOFI are reported on a cash basis. 

 Remuneration for individual employees may include vacation payouts. 
 Remuneration for individual employees may include taxable benefits as defined by Canada 

Customs and Revenue Agency.  
 Salary and benefit amounts recovered by third parties are included in remuneration for SOFI 

purposes but are reported net of the recovered amount in the financial statements.  
 Expenses paid in respect to employees include 100% of the GST/PST paid, whereas the 

expenditures in the financial statements are shown net of the GST rebate. 
 
For the Schedule of Payments for the Provision of Goods & Services, reconciling items include the 
following: 
 

 The amounts reported are payments to suppliers; the financial statements include a year-end 
accrual. 

 The list of payments to suppliers include 100% of the GST/PST paid, whereas the expenditures in 
the financial statements are shown net of the GST rebate.  

 Amounts paid by recovery from the Ministry of Education operating grants are included in 
Services and Supplies expenditures in the financial statements, whereas they are not included in 
this schedule.  

 Payments to suppliers may be reported in the financial statements as Prepaid Expenses, Tangible 
Capital Assets, or Service and Supplies, as appropriate.  

 The Schedule of Payments for Goods and Services may include expenditures which are wholly or 
partially recovered or reimbursed from other organizations. Thereby reducing the districts 
operating expenditures in the financial statements.  
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`BOARD COMMITTEES 
 

The Board may establish standing and ad hoc committees of the Board when necessary to assist it with 

governance functions. When a committee is established, the Board shall define the committee’s 

purpose, powers and duties, membership, and meetings. Committees of the Board shall never interfere 

with the delegation of authority from Board to Superintendent. The Board may delegate specific powers 

and duties to committees of the Board that are established by the Board, subject to the restrictions on 

delegation in the School Act.  

 
The primary purpose of all committees of the Board shall be to act in an advisory capacity to the Board. 
Unless specific powers have been delegated by the Board the power of all committees shall be limited to 
making recommendations to the Board and shall not include that of acting on behalf of the Board unless 
specifically authorized by Board motion for individual issues.  
 
 
1. Standing Committees 

1.1 The Board shall utilize a Committee of the Whole structure with the agenda structured to 

allow the committee to address the following areas as needed:  

• Finance and Facilities 

• Education and Strategic Planning 

• Audit  

• Policy Development  

1.2 The rules applied at regular meetings shall be observed while in Committee of the Whole so 
far as they are applicable, except as to the requirement for seconding of motions and limiting 
the number of times of speaking. 

1.3 The Committee of the Whole shall report to the Board at the Board meeting following each 
committee meeting. 

1.4 The Chair of a Standing Committee shall place all committee recommendations before the 
Board at a regular business meeting of the Board in the form of a proposed motion. Action of 
any Standing Committee shall not be binding until formally approved by the Board unless the 
Board by a majority vote gives the Standing Committee power to act. 

1.5 Matters that the Board has directed to a Committee for action must take precedence over any 
other Committee business. 

1.6 Finance and Facilities Portion of the Committee of the Whole.  

1.6.1 Purpose/Function: 

1.6.1.1 To review and provide recommendations to the Board regarding assigned 
financial and facilities planning matters.  
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1.6.2 Powers and Duties: 

1.6.2.1 Student Enrolment: Annually review enrolment and enrolment trends and 
the potential impact on capital planning, student accommodation and 
catchment changes. 

1.6.2.2 Capital Planning: Annually review and make recommendations regarding 
the draft five-year capital plan for submission to the BC Ministry of 
Education. 

1.6.2.3 Long Range Facilities Plan: Review and make recommendations regarding 
the draft long-range facilities plan for submission to the BC Ministry of 
Education. 

1.6.2.4 Facilities Planning Matters Referred to the Committee by the Board: Review 
matters referred and make recommendations as requested. 

1.6.2.5 Fiscal Accountability Reporting: Review and assess Fiscal Accountability 
Reports in light of Policy 12 Appendix B Quality Indicators and make 
recommendations to the Board.  

1.6.2.6 Preliminary and Amended Budgets Items: Review the Preliminary and 
Amended Operating Budgets and make recommendations as deemed 
appropriate to the Board. 

1.6.3 Membership: 

1.6.3.1 Membership includes all trustees. 

1.6.4 Meetings:  

1.6.4.1 The Committee shall meet at least three times annually unless items 
referred to the committee by the board necessitates additional meetings. 

1.7 Education and Strategic Planning Portion of the Committee of the Whole  

1.7.1 Purpose/Function: 

1.7.1.1 To review and assess the performance of the Superintendent in relation to 
the quality indicators identified in Policy 12 Appendix B regarding: student 
learning, student well-being, and strategic planning and reporting. 

1.7.1.2 To review education or strategic planning and reporting related matters 
referred to the committee by the Board. 

 

1.7.2 Powers and Duties: 

1.7.2.1 Strategic Planning and Reporting: Annually review the Strategic Planning 
Accountability Report acknowledging accomplishments and if deemed 
appropriate recommend revisions to the plan. 
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1.7.2.2 Annually review the Student Learning Accountability Report, identify, and 
acknowledge accomplishments, identify opportunities for improving 
student learning and report observations to the Board. 

1.7.2.3 Annually review the Student Well-Being Accountability Report, identify, and 
acknowledge accomplishments, identify opportunities for improving 
student well-being and report observations to the Board. 

1.7.2.4 Annually review Indigenous services, identify, and acknowledge 
accomplishments, identify opportunities for improving student learning and 
report observations to the Board. 

1.7.2.5 Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding proposed Board 
Authority Authorized Courses. 

1.7.3 Membership: 

1.7.3.1 Membership includes all trustees. 

1.7.4 Meetings:  

1.7.4.1 The Committee shall meet at least four times per year unless items referred 
to the Committee by the Board necessitates additional meetings. 

 

1.8 Audit Committee Portion of the Committee of the Whole 

1.8.1 Purpose/Function 

1.8.1.1 The purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board of Education in fulfilling 
its responsibilities in relation to: 

1.8.1.1.1 Overseeing the School District’s financial reporting process and 
its internal control structure and report its findings to the Board 
of Education. This task is facilitated by asking questions about 
the quality of work done by management, participating in the 
audit planning and reporting processes, understanding, and 
reviewing the aspects of the operation that put the School 
District at risk, and the District’s preparedness to face that risk. 
It summarizes its findings and recommendations so that the 
Board can make informed decisions. 

1.8.1.1.2 Maintaining direct lines of communications with the 
Superintendent and with the external auditors.  

1.8.1.1.3 Monitoring the scope and costs of the activity of the external 
auditors and assessing their performance.  

1.8.1.1.4 Recommending to the Board the terms of engagement for the 
external Auditor. 

1.8.2 Powers and Duties 
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1.8.2.1 Review the audited financial statements and recommend approval of the 
audited statements by the Board. 

 

1.8.2.2 Review the Auditor’s assessment of managements risk mitigation strategies 
and the appropriateness of internal controls with a focus on safeguarding 
District assets. 

1.8.2.3 Review the “Auditor’s Management Letter” with the Auditor and assess 
Management’s action plan to address concerns and follow up on the 
implementation of the auditor’s letter of recommendations including 
ensuring the Board directs by motion the recommendations to be 
implemented, and ensuring any deficiencies identified in the audit report 
and management letter are addressed in a timely manner to the satisfaction 
of the external auditor.  

1.8.2.4 Review the nature and extent of other services provided by the auditor in 
relation to auditor independence and ensure the auditor presents 
information relative to those Fiscal Quality Indicators contained in Policy 12 
which the audit committee determines can be best assessed by the external 
auditor. 

1.8.2.5 Monitor the development of and changes to accounting principles and 
practices and financial reporting standards, and their impact on the School 
District’s financial reporting. 

1.8.2.6 Review proposed terms of engagement for the external auditor and make 
recommendations to the Board regarding such terms of engagement. 
Oversee the engagement of external auditors including the terms of the 
audit engagement and appropriateness of proposed fees. 

1.8.2.7 At least once a year, connect with the external auditors. This function may 
be performed by the Board Chair.  

1.8.2.8 Make inquiries of the Auditor which members of the Committee believe are 
necessary to discharge its fiduciary responsibilities. 

1.8.2.9 Make recommendations to the Board regarding appointment of external 
auditor and review external audit services as needed. 

1.8.2.10 Make recommendations to the Board regarding banking services as needed. 

 

1.8.2.11 Review fiscal accountability reports and related information.  

1.8.2.12 As appropriate make policy recommendations to the Board related to the 
role of the audit committee. 

1.8.2.13 Reviews, in connection with the review of the audited financial statements, 
an annual report on the use of legal services and on substantial outstanding 
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legal actions against the School District in order to monitor possible risk 
exposures and contingent liabilities;  

1.8.3 Membership 

1.8.3.1 Membership includes all trustees. 

1.8.4 Meetings 

1.8.4.1 The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year.  

1.8.4.2 In establishing the agenda for meetings of the Committee, the Chair will be 
advised by the Secretary Treasurer of items for the agenda.   

1.9 Policy Committee Portion of the Committee of the Whole 

1.9.1 Purpose 

1.9.1.1 Ensure the review of all Board Policies within the Board’s four-year term of 
office.  

1.9.1.2 To prepare recommendations for additions/amendments/deletions to Board 
Policy.  

1.9.2 Powers and Duties 

1.9.2.1 To obtain advice on revision of current policy and to generate new or revised 
policies to recommend to the Board.  

1.9.2.2 To review Board Policies on a schedule which would at minimum provide for 
the review of all policies at least once in a four-year board term of office and 
make recommendations to the Board regarding amendments, changes, and 
deletions. 

1.9.2.3 Ensure adherence to Policy 10 Policy Making. 

1.9.2.4 Addresss matters referred to it by the Board. 

1.9.3 Membership 

1.9.3.1 Membership includes all Trustees. 

1.9.4 Meetings 

1.9.4.1 At least twice annually. 
 
 
 
 
Ad Hoc Committees 
 
Ad hoc committees may be established to assist the Board on a specific project for a specific period of 
time. The terms of reference for each ad hoc committee will be established by Board motion at the time 
of the formation. Such ad hoc committees shall cease to exist when the purpose has been achieved.   
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Resource Personnel 
 
The Superintendent shall appoint resource personnel to work with committees and the Superintendent 
shall determine the roles, responsibilities, and reporting requirements of the resource personnel. Minutes 
or notes shall be recorded at all committee meetings by the designated staff resource person. 
 
Legal Reference: Section 65, 85 School Act 
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BOARD REPRESENTATIVES 
 

In response to requests from external organizations or agencies, the Board will consider naming 
representatives to various external committees, agencies, and organizations. Such representation is 
established at the discretion of the Board to facilitate the exchange of information on matters of mutual 
concern and/or to discuss possible agreements between the District and other organizations.  
 
The Board shall be guided by the following principles when naming representatives to other 
organizations: 

• The Board's decision-making role can be exercised only by the Board as a whole, not by an 
individual trustee or committee; 

• The Board's function is primarily governance, rather than administration; 

• Responsibilities placed on trustees are to be closely related to the Board's central role as per 
Policy 2. 

 
The Superintendent may appoint resource personnel to work with the external committee 
representatives and shall determine the roles, responsibilities, and reporting requirements of resource 
personnel.  
 
External committees will have Board representation identified normally at the annual Inaugural Meeting 
or alternatively at a subsequent meeting of the Board. 
 
Representatives serve at the pleasure of the Board.  
 
 
External Committees 
 
1. British Columbia School Trustees Association (BCSTA) Provincial Council 

1.1 Purpose of the Provincial Council  

1.1.1 Act as a forum for discussion of relevant, timely and emerging issues identified from 
individual Boards, BCSTA Board of Directors, Ministry of Education, and other sources. 

1.1.2 Discuss, and/or develop, policy issues for submission at the Annual General Meeting. 

1.1.3 Establish interim policies of the Association between general meetings. 

1.1.4 Address matters as outlined in BCSTA bylaws, including Association budget approval. 

1.1.5 Act on action requests from BCSTA Board of Directors. 

1.2 Powers and Duties of the Board Representative 

1.2.1 Attend Provincial Council meetings. 

1.2.2 Represent the Board’s positions and interests at the provincial level. 
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1.2.3 Communicate to the Board the work of the Provincial Council. 

1.2.4 Bring recommendations to the Board as and when necessary. 

1.2.5 Build positive relationships. 

1.3 Membership 

1.3.1 One (1) trustee; one (1) alternate. 

1.4 Meetings 

1.4.1 As called by Provincial Council. (Usually 4 per year, one at the AGM) 
 
2. British Columbia Public School Employers’ Association (BCPSEA) 

2.1 Purpose of the BCPSEA 

2.1.1 Act as the accredited bargaining agent for the BCSTA’s members. 

2.1.2 Assist in carrying out any objectives and strategic directions established by the Public 
Sector Employers’ Council. 

2.1.3 Coordinate collective bargaining objectives, benefit administration, human resource 
practices and out-of-scope compensation matters amongst members. 

2.2 Powers and Duties of the Board Representative 

2.2.1 Attend the BCPSEA meetings as required. 

2.2.2 Represent the Board’s positions and interests at BCPSEA meetings. 

2.2.3 Communicate to the Board the work of BCPSEA. 

2.2.4 Bring recommendations to the Board as and when necessary. 

2.2.5 Build positive relationships. 

2.3 Membership 

2.3.1 One (1) trustee; one (1) alternate. 

2.4 Meetings 

2.4.1 As called by BCPSEA. 
 
3. BCSTA South Coast Branch 

3.1 Purpose of the BCSTA South Coast Branch 

3.1.1 Receive reports from the BCSTA Board of Directors. 

3.1.2 Discuss and/or develop policy issues for submission at the Annual General Meeting. 

3.1.3 Act as a forum for discussion of South Coast Branch issues. 
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3.2 Powers and Duties of the Board Representative 

3.2.1 Attend BCSTA South Coast Branch meetings. 

3.2.2 Represent the Board’s positions and interests at BCSTA South Coast Branch meetings. 

3.2.3 Communicate to the Board the work of the BCSTA South Coast Branch. 

3.2.4 Bring recommendations to the Board as and when necessary. 

3.2.5 Build positive working relationships with other Boards. 

3.3 Membership 

3.3.1 All trustees are expected to attend. 

3.4 Meetings 

3.4.1 Two (2) meetings per year or as called by the South Coast Branch. 
 
Community Representation 

From time to time the Board is invited to appoint representative(s) to committees or other entities 
external to the School District. Currently the Board has approved trustee representation for the 
following groups or committees: Chamber of Commerce, Northern Sunshine Coast Ferry Advisory 
Council, District Parent Advisory Council (DPAC), Powell River Community Action Team, Social Action, 
and Planning Advisory Committee. 

4.1 Purpose:  

4.1.1 The purpose of sending representatives to represent the Board on such external 
committees or entities is to strengthen communication and understanding with the 
external organization. 

4.2 Powers and Duties of the Representative is to: 

4.2.1 Represent the Board’s positions and interests. If no Board position has been 
determined the representative will refrain from expressing a personal opinion and will 
seek a Board position. 

4.2.2 Communicate to the Board the work of the external entity and any opportunities 
which may exist for mutual benefit involving the Board and the entity. 

4.2.3 Build positive relations between the entity and the Board corporate. 

4.3 Representatives:  

4.3.1 Normally one (1) representative chosen by the Chair. 

4.4 Meetings:  

4.4.1 As determined by the external committee or entity. 

4.5 The Board shall review annually the efficacy of continued Board representation on such 
committees or entities.  
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Other Community Involvement 

 
As active community members, trustees are frequently requested to sit on various community 
committees or be involved in community organizations.  If representation to such an external 
organization has not been approved by the Board as noted above, the trustee shall make clear that their 
presence is as a community member and not as a Powell River School District Trustee and therefore the 
views expressed are those of the individual and not those of the Board or District. 
 
 
Administrative Committee Representation 
 
From time to time the Superintendent in consultation with the Board may request the Board to select a 
Board representative to an Administrative committee. In such instances the Superintendent will 
determine the purpose of the committee.  
 
The role of the Board representative in such instances shall be to provide visible Board support for 
advancing the purpose of the committee and act as the Board’s eyes and ears relative to matters being 
discussed and bring to the Board’s attention any related issues which fall within areas of Board retained 
authority. The Board representative has no decision making authority. Since these are Administrative 
Committees, the Superintendent shall bring any recommendations to the Board for the Board’s 
consideration and decision.  
 
The Administrative Committee structure shall be determined by the Superintendent with the proviso 
that the membership shall include one Board member selected by the Board. Committee meetings shall 
be at the call of the Superintendent. 
 
School Liaison Trustee Role 
 
The Chair shall make School Liaison assignments. The assignments shall be posted on the District 
website. 
 
School Liaison responsibilities shall not: 

• Inhibit or circumvent administrative authority or responsibility.  

• Include any decision-making authority.  
 

Parent Advisory Councils as per section 8 of the School Act may advise the Board and the Principal and 
staff of a school. At the invitation of the PAC the school trustee liaison may attend the PAC meeting. If 
the Council wishes to advise the Board corporate, that advice is to be sent to the Board.  
 
The role of liaison trustee is to provide visual support for school activities, including but not limited to, 
athletic competitions, fine arts performances and displays, school celebrations, and recognition events. 
The role allows trustees to become knowledgeable of public-school events, while keeping manageable 
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the time demands should there not be some limiting of expectations for Board or trustee attendance at 
such public events.  
 
 
Legal Reference: Sections 8.4, 8.5, 22, 65, 74, 85 School Act 

Ministry of Education website 
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BOARD OF EDUCATION 
REPRESENTATIVES  

 

SCHOOL LIAISONS  
School Name Trustee 

Brooks Secondary Jaclyn Miller 

Edgehill Elementary Rob Hill 

Henderson Elementary Dale Lawson 

James Thomson Elementary Kirsten Van’t Schip 

Kelly Creek Community Maureen Mason 

Partners in Education Dale Lawson 

Texada Elementary Rob Hill 

Westview Elementary Maureen Mason 

BOARD COMMITTEES  
Committee Name Trustee 

Committee of the Whole All Trustees 

REPRESENTATIVES TO INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEES 

Administrative Committees Trustee Alternate 

Environmental and Sustainability Committee Maureen Mason  

Health Committee Jaclyn Miller  

Justice, Equity, Diversity, Inclusion Kirsten Van’t Ship  

SOGI Rob Hill  

REPRESENTATIVES TO EXTERNAL COMMITTEES, ORGANIZATIONS AND AGENCIES 

External/Sectoral Committees  Trustee  Alternate 

BCPSEA Representative  Jaclyn Miller  

BCSTA Provincial Council Representative Rob Hill  

South Coast Branch  All Trustees  

District Parent Advisory Council Dale Lawson  

Indigenous Education Council (TEA) TBA  

https://www.facebook.com/qathetschooldistrict/
https://instagram.com/qathetschooldistrict/


Statement of Disclosure
Financial Disclosure Act

You must complete a Statement of Disclosure form if you are:
• a nominee for election to provincial or local government office*, as a school trustee or as a director of a francophone education

authority
• an elected local government official
• an elected school trustee, or a director of a francophone education authority
• an employee designated by a local government, a francophone education authority or the board of a school district
• a public employee designated by the Lieutenant Governor in Council

*(”local government” includes municipalities, regional districts and the Islands Trust)

Who has access to the information on this form? 
The Financial Disclosure Act requires you to disclose assets, liabilities and sources of income. Under section 6 (1) of the Act, statements 
of disclosure filed by nominees or municipal officials are available for public inspection during normal business hours. Statements filed by 
designated employees are not routinely available for public inspection.  If you have questions about this form, please contact your solicitor 

or your political party’s legal counsel.

What is a trustee?– s. 5 (2) 
In the following questions the term "trustee" does not mean school trustee or Islands Trust trustee. Under the Financial Disclosure Act a 
trustee: 
•   holds a share in a corporation or an interest in land for your benefit, or is liable under the Income Tax Act (Canada) to pay       
      income tax on income received on the share or land interest 
•   has an agreement entitling him or her to acquire an interest in land for your benefit

Level of government that applies to you:

If sections do not provide enough space, attach a separate sheet to continue.
Assets – S. 3 (a)
List the name of each corporation in which you hold one or more shares, including shares held by a trustee on your behalf:

Person making disclosure: last name first & middle name(s)

Street, rural route, post office box:

Province:City: Postal Code:

local governmentprovincial

school board/francophone education authority



Liabilities – s. 3 (e)
List all creditors to whom you owe a debt. Do not include residential property debt (mortgage, lease or agreement for sale), money
borrowed for household or personal living expenses, or any assets you hold in trust for another person:

creditor's name(s) creditor's address(es)

Income – s. 3 (b-d)
List each of the businesses and organizations from which you receive financial remuneration for your services and identify your
capacity as owner, part-owner, employee, trustee, partner or other (e.g. director of a company or society).
• Provincial nominees and designated employees must list all sources of income in the province.
• Local government officials, school board officials, francophone education authority directors and designated employees must list

only income sources within the regional district that includes the municipality, local trust area or school district for which the
official is elected or nominated, or where the employee holds the designated position 

your capacity   name(s) of business(es)/organization(s)

Real Property – s. 3 (f)
List the legal description and address of all land in which you, or a trustee acting on your behalf, own an interest or have an
agreement which entitles you to obtain an interest. Do not include your personal residence.
• Provincial nominees and designated employees must list all applicable land holdings in the province
• Local government officials, school board officials, francophone education authority directors and designated employees must list

only applicable land holdings within the regional district that includes the municipality, local trust area or school district for which
the official is elected or nominated, or where the employee holds the designated position

legal description(s)     address(es)

2



Corporate Assets – s. 5
Do you individually, or together with your spouse, child, brother, sister, mother or father, own shares in a corporation which total more
than 30% of votes for electing directors? (Include shares held by a trustee on your behalf, but not shares you hold by way of security.)

If yes, please list the following information below & continue on a separate sheet as necessary:

• the name of each corporation and all of its subsidiaries
• in general terms, the type of business the corporation and its subsidiaries normally conduct
• a description and address of land in which the corporation, its subsidiaries or a trustee acting for the corporation, own an interest,

or have an agreement entitling any of them to acquire an interest
• a list of creditors of the corporation, including its subsidiaries. You need not include debts of less than $5,000 payable in 90 days
• a list of any other corporations in which the corporation, including its subsidiaries or trustees acting for them, holds one or more

shares.

signature of person making disclosure date

Where to send this completed disclosure form:
Local government officials: 

. . . to your local chief election officer
• with your nomination papers, and

. . . to the officer responsible for corporate administration
• between the 1st and 15th of January of each year you hold office, and
• by the 15th of the month after you leave office

School board trustees/ Francophone Education Authority directors:
. . . to the secretary treasurer or chief executive officer of the authority

• with your nomination papers, and
• between the 1st and 15th of January of each year you hold office, and
• by the 15th of the month after you leave office

Nominees for provincial office:
• with your nomination papers. If elected you will be advised of further disclosure requirements under the    

Members' Conflict of Interest Act.
Designated Employees: 

. . . to the appropriate disclosure clerk (local government officer responsible for corporate 
administration, secretary treasurer, or Clerk of the Legislative Assembly)

• by the 15th of the month you become a designated employee, and
• between the 1st and 15th of January of each year you are employed, and
• by the 15th of the month after you leave your position 3

06/2014

no yes

Clear Form

Print Form
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